

Sun Exposure in Outdoor Workers: Measurements and Monitoring

June 30th 2020

Prepared by: Cheryl Peters and Nicole Slot

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge all the individuals who contributed their time and insights to this work, including the project co-applicants: Dr. Victoria Arrandale, Dr. Sunil Kalia, Dr. Thomas Tenkate, and Dr. Linn Holness and the project collaborators: Steve Quantz, Judith Purcell, Brenda Marsh, Nicole Braun, Merrill O'Donnell, Terry Parker, Carmen Skelton, Brandon Leong, Andrew Harper, Elizabeth Rydz, and Lindsay Forsman-Phillips. We would also like to thank all the employers and workers who participated in the UVR measurement sub-study and the 22 key informants who participated in the monitoring sub-study. We greatly appreciate everyone's willingness to share their time, experiences and knowledge with us.

This research project was funded by the Government of Alberta (Alberta Labour and Immigration) OHS Futures – Research Funding Program (<u>www.alberta.ca/ohs-futures-research-grants</u>).

Government

Executive Summary

Outdoor workers are exposed to numerous workplace hazards. These hazards or exposures place them at risk for a wide variety of negative health outcomes, including cancers, heat stress and hypothermia, respiratory diseases, skin problems, infections, and physical injuries (for example from falls, equipment, or animals). In particular, solar ultraviolet radiation (UVR) is a substantial risk factor for outdoor workers and has been underestimated and often neglected as an occupational risk [1]. In this study our objectives were to assess:

- 1. What are the typical full-day UVR exposure levels for outdoor workers in Alberta?
- 2. What are the best practices for creating a sun exposure and skin cancer surveillance system for outdoor workers in Alberta?

This report presents the results of our program of research on outdoor workers health as it relates to their exposure to solar UVR. Our study involved two distinct sub-projects, one that was largely quantitative in nature (exposure assessment for solar UVR in outdoor workers), and one that was largely qualitative (assessing the best way to design a surveillance program for the occupational health of outdoor workers).

UVR measurement sub-study:

The purpose of the first sub-study was to collect personal solar UVR exposure measurements from workers in Alberta and to assess which personal, work, and environmental factors are important determinants of personal daily solar UVR exposure. Key outcomes of this sub-study included:

- This study collected objective solar UVR measurements from outdoor workers primarily in Alberta during the summer of 2019.
- In total, 883 measurements were collected from 179 workers using personal UVR dosimeters.
- On average, workers were exposed to 1.93 Standard Erythemal Dose (SED) (range: 0.03-16.63 SED) per day.
- Almost half of the workers were exposed to levels that exceeded the international occupational exposure limit guideline (1.3 SED).

Monitoring sub-study:

The purpose of the second sub-study was to investigate via a literature review and key informant interviews whether occupational surveillance has been conducted for outdoor workers previously, to identify the key planning components for structuring an effective occupational surveillance program and to better understand the best practices for the design and implementation of a potential surveillance system for outdoor workers. Key findings and outcomes of this sub-study included:

- No countries have designed or implemented an occupational surveillance system focused solely on outdoor workers.
- Numerous surveillance strategies exist and 5 of these strategies were investigated in depth.
- Underreporting/under-participation is a key barrier while communication/collaboration is a key facilitator in the design and implementation of an occupational surveillance program.
- 10 key considerations in the design of an occupational surveillance program were identified.
- 5 recommendations for an occupational surveillance system focused on non-melanoma skin cancer (NMSC) are proposed.

Overall conclusions:

Our study demonstrated that sun exposure is a clear occupational hazard for outdoor workers in Alberta, and that there are few examples worldwide of jurisdictions who have surveillance systems in place to support the exposure and NMSC risk reduction in this vulnerable worker population. Programs have been developed in Canada over the years to help support employers in controlling exposure to solar UVR among their workers, but evaluation of these programs has been limited to date. This speaks very much to our finding from this study that sustained funding, data infrastructure, and clear communication and collaboration are vital to the tackling of occupational skin cancer prevention as well as the undertaking of occupational hazard and health surveillance more broadly.

Recommendations for future research:

We have identified some areas for future research and propose the following:

- Additional UVR sampling campaigns should be undertaken in subsequent summers in Alberta as well as in different regions in Canada.
- Systems should be designed and created to better track the incidence of NMSC in Alberta and elsewhere in Canada.
- Future research should address the issue of other occupational health hazards experienced by outdoor workers, including solar UVR exposure, but expanding into other co-exposures experienced by this group.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
Section 1: Figures, tables, acronyms	7
1.1 List of figures	7
1.2 List of tables	7
1.3 List of acronyms	7
Section 2: Introduction	8
Section 3: Background & Literature Review	9
3.1 Sun exposure in outdoor workers	9
3.2 Prevention of occupational sun exposure	9
3.3 Surveillance as a tool to reduce occupational disease risk	10
3.4 Research objectives:	11
Section 4: UVR measurement sub-study	12
4.1 Methodology	12
Study design	12
Study sample	12
Data collection	13
Variables and statistical analysis	14
4.2 Results	16
Demographics and skin cancer risk factors	16
Meteorological results	
Ultraviolet radiation dosimetry results	
4.3 Discussion	20
Overall context	20
Strengths	22
Limitations	23
Knowledge translation completed and in progress	23
Section 5: Monitoring sub-study	25
5.1 Methods	25
Methodology for best practices in surveillance/literature review	25
Methodology for key informant interviews	25
5.2 Results (1): Outcome of the literature review	26
What is surveillance?	

Why is surveillance of outdoor workers important?	27
Key outcome	27
5.2 Results (2): Outcome of key informant interviews	30
Perspectives from selected Canadian and international jurisdictions	30
5.3 Discussion	34
Key considerations in the design of an occupational surveillance program	34
Key recommendations for a NMSC surveillance program	35
Knowledge translation completed and in progress	37
Section 6: Overall conclusions	38
For the UVR exposure sub-study:	38
For the monitoring sub-study	38
Relevance to Alberta workers, workplaces, employers, and decision makers	38
Recommendations for future research	39
Section 7 Appendices	. 409
7.1 Appendix 1: Questionnaire used in UV radiation exposure monitoring piece	40
7.2 Appendix 2: Worked example from UVR exposure model	44
7.3 Appendix 3: Post-webinar survey results	45
7.4 Appendix 4: Table of surveillance practices	45
7.5 Appendix 5: Interview questions/questionnaire	45
7.6 Appendix 6: Surveillance strategies	47
Exposure Registry:	47
Disease Registry:	48
Disease screening/medical surveillance:	49
Sentinel Event Surveillance:	50
Disease Surveillance via data linkage:	51
7.7 Appendix 7: Key informant interview analysis	53
What are the perceived barriers to developing and implementing an effective occupational surveillance program?	53
What are the perceived facilitators to developing and implementing an effective occupational surveillance program?	55
What are the key considerations to developing and implementing an effective occupational surveillance program?	58
Section 8 References	61

Section 1: Figures, tables, acronyms

1.1 List of figures

1.2 List of tables

Table 1. Descriptive statistics and personal solar ultraviolet radiation monitoring results by potential	
determinant of exposure	. 16
Table 2. Forecasted and observed UVI, UV dose, and temperature, by region and forecast	. 18
Table 3. SED exposure by time window and trade	. 19
Table 4. Distribution of the personal solar UVR measurements (%) by multiples of the recommended	
occupational exposure limit guideline (1.3 SED)	. 20
Table 5. Model results: predictors of SED _{day} (Standard Erythemal Dose per day)	.21
Table 6. Surveillance strategies (Exposure Registry, Disease Registry, and Disease Screening/Medical	
Surveillance)	. 29
Table 7. Surveillance strategies (Sentinel Event Surveillance, Disease Surveillance via Data Linkage)	. 30
Table 8. Barriers to developing and implementing an occupational surveillance system	. 32
Table 9: Facilitators in the development and implementation of an occupational surveillance system	. 33

1.3 List of acronyms

АК	Actinic Keratosis
AHS	Alberta Health Services
BC	British Columbia
BCC	Basal Cell Carcinoma
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
COEH	Centre for Occupational and Environmental Health (Manchester)
CWHSP	Coal Workers' Health Surveillance Program
DGUV	Deutsche Gesetzliche Unfallsversicherung (German Social Accident Insurance)
ECWHSP	Enhanced Coal Workers Health Surveillance Program
HSE	Health and Safety Executive
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
MSHA	Mine Safety and Health Administration
NIOSH	National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health
NLI	Norwegian Labour Inspectorate
NMSC	Non-Melanoma Skin Cancer
OD	Occupational Disease
ODSS	Occupational Disease Surveillance System
OEL	Occupational Exposure Limit
OSD	Occupational Skin Disease
OHS	Occupational Health and Safety
EU-OSHA	European Agency for Safety and Health at Work
RAS	Norwegian Labor Inspectorate Registry for Work-Related disease
SCC	Squamous Cell Carcinoma
SED	Standard Erythemal Dose
THOR	The Health and Occupation Reporting network

UK	United Kingdom
UVI	Ultraviolet Index
UVR	Ultraviolet Radiation
WCB-Alberta	Workers' Compensation Board-Alberta
WRD	Work Related Disease
WRSD	Work Related Skin Disease
WHO	World Health Organization
WorkSafeBC	Workers' Compensation Board of British Columbia
WSIB	Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (Ontario)

Section 2: Introduction

This report serves as a complete summary of our program of research on outdoor workers health as it relates to their exposure to solar ultraviolet radiation (UVR). Our study involved two distinct sub-projects, one that was largely quantitative in nature (exposure assessment for solar UVR in outdoor workers), and one that was largely qualitative (assessing the best way to design a surveillance program for the occupational health of outdoor workers).

The report is organized into the following sections:

Section 1 lists the figures/tables/acronyms that appear in the report

Section 2 introduces the report and describes how the information is organized.

Section 3 provides a general background on occupational exposure to solar UVR in Canada, including why it is of concern, the prevention of sun exposure, and the type and design of surveillance programs for outdoor workers. This section also includes the objectives that we sought to achieve in the course of this program of research.

Section 4 describes the first sub-project of our grant in detail, which involved the measurement of solar UVR exposure in a group of Alberta's outdoor workers. It is organized into three parts which include the methodology we used, the results of our field study, and a discussion and context of our results.

Section 5 reports on the second sub-project of our grant in detail, which involved a literature review and some in-depth key informant interviews to collect information on the surveillance of outdoor workers and their occupational health, specific to sun exposure (where possible). As well we outline the key considerations for designing an occupational surveillance system in Alberta and recommendations to help move towards a NMSC surveillance program.

Section 6 ties the whole program of research together and offers some conclusions and next steps. We provide some recommendations for where to go next in terms of understanding the extent and level of exposure to solar UVR in Alberta's outdoor workers, explain how the results are relevant to Alberta workers, workplaces, employers and decision makers and provide some additional recommendations for future research.

Section 3: Background & Literature Review

3.1 Sun exposure in outdoor workers

As of 2015, over 85,000 of the 275,000 newly diagnosed cancers in Canada were skin cancer, making it the most common cancer diagnosis in the country [2]. Although skin cancer is largely preventable (by limiting solar ultraviolet radiation (UVR) exposure), it is one of the only cancers for which incidence continues to increase in Canada and other western countries [3]. Outdoor workers are a group at high risk of prolonged and intense solar UVR exposure [4]. This pattern of exposure places them at increased risk of non-melanoma skin cancers (basal and squamous cell carcinomas), as well as actinic keratoses, which are pre-cancerous skin lesions.

Most previous research on occupational UVR exposure has been done in Australia and a few select European countries (Germany in particular), and data on measured values of UVR for Canadian workers is scarce; to date, no data is available from the province of Alberta. This is despite the fact that 1.5 million Canadians (and over 225,000 in Alberta) are exposed to solar UVR at work [5], and that Alberta has some of the highest ambient UVR in the country (due primarily to elevation and weather patterns). It has been estimated that over 4,500 new cases of non-melanoma skin cancer each year in Canada are attributable to occupational solar UVR exposure [6]. This represents a significant physical and mental cost to workers themselves, as well as an economic cost to the health care system. Solar UVR exposure also contributes to a number of other health outcomes. Although rarely fatal itself, a diagnosis of non-melanoma skin cancer increases the risk of a recurrent skin cancer, and also doubles the risk of some other non-cutaneous cancers [7]. Other health risks from solar UVR exposure include cataracts, ocular melanoma, solar (actinic) keratoses, skin aging, and negative immune system effects [8].

3.2 Prevention of occupational sun exposure

Reduction of the impact of occupational disease can occur on the continuum of primary, secondary, and tertiary prevention. Primary prevention (reducing a risk factor for disease prior to illness occurring) is the ideal opportunity, but secondary (early detection and treatment) and tertiary (minimizing morbidity after disease occurs) prevention can also play key roles in limiting the harm of occupational diseases [9]. The major aspect of outdoor work that is challenging from a primary prevention standpoint is that many of the exposures of concern are difficult to control using classic methods. The hierarchy of controls is a system whereby hazard reduction is accomplished using tasks in this order of importance: elimination of the hazard, substitution to a less hazardous alternative, engineering controls, administrative arrangements to reduce exposure, and personal protective equipment as a last resort [10]. For several of the hazards experienced by outdoor workers, the best controls in terms of effectiveness are simply not available. We cannot completely eliminate or substitute solar UVR exposure, silica, infectious agents, or injury altogether, so we are forced to use less effective methods to reduce the risk of occupational injury and disease in outdoor workers.

Calls have been made to focus more research on the primary prevention of skin cancer in Canada [11], but the lack of documentation of levels of occupational exposure to solar UVR inhibits our ability to evaluate the effectiveness of workplace interventions. Interventions to reduce UVR exposure tend to focus on individual behaviours. The following recommendations are typically used in UVR exposure-reduction interventions [12]: 1) sun avoidance, shade seeking; 2) protective clothing (hats, closely-woven fabrics); 3) sunscreen; and, more rarely, 4) skin cancer screening. These strategies have ranged from small, targeted interventions to national strategies with moderate results and, in many cases, a continued increase in skin cancer incidence [13]. In addition, people tend to use sun protection improperly (i.e. not applying enough sunscreen and not re-applying often enough, wearing hats without proper brims). However, Australia and Scandinavia (regions with long histories of investment in

prevention activities) have seen declines in skin cancer mortality, showing that prevention strategies can work [14].

The Sun Safety at Work Canada project and its associated toolkit provides a framework for employers to develop their own personalized sun safety program for outdoor workers, and preliminary results suggest that these programs are easy to use and provide a useful and tailored approach to reducing the risk of sun exposure and heat stress in Canada's outdoor workers [15]. This project focuses on primary prevention, but other systems in countries outside of Canada (primarily Germany) have also seen success using complementary secondary and tertiary prevention plans. The German system allows the general population aged 35 and up to seek out skin screening once every two years as part of their health insurance plan [16]. Tertiary prevention for skin cancer includes following patients closely over time for recurrence (i.e. new cancers), as having one skin malignancy greatly increases the risk of having subsequent ones. In addition, these systems may also include skin screening for the immunosuppressed (such as people who have had an organ transplant), as they are at very high risk of epithelial cancers [16].

3.3 Surveillance as a tool to reduce occupational disease risk

According to a recent consensus report from the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine in the United States, the purpose of surveillance systems for occupational health and safety is to "provide(s) the data and analyses needed to understand the relationships between work and injuries and illnesses in order to improve worker safety and health and prevent work-related injuries and illnesses"[17]. Various methods for collecting and using data can be employed in an occupational health surveillance system, including exposure registries, occupational disease registries, disease screening/medical surveillance (such as for pneumoconiosis or signs of skin cancer), sentinel event surveillance, disease surveillance via data linkage, exposure surveillance and population-based surveys [18].

There are several examples of exposure registries in Canada that have been reviewed in detail in recent years [18, 19]. These can include monitoring of a specific group of workers from one locale (such as the Newfoundland Baie Verte Miners' Registry) up to population-based monitoring programs (such as the National Dose Registry for radiation exposed workers). They can focus on one exposure (such as radiation or asbestos) or be more open ended in terms of exposures of interest (such as the WorkSafeBC Exposure Registry Program). One of the main strengths of exposure registries is that workers are enrolled prior to the occurrence of disease, which allows for primary prevention work to take place.

Health or medical surveillance programs are also a useful tool in the prevention of occupational disease, especially for health problems that have early warning signs, or that have a better prognosis with early diagnosis and/or treatment (via secondary and tertiary prevention activities). Programs exist in various forms for hazards such as noise, vibration, asbestos, lead, solvents, radiation, and biological agents [20].

One key learning that resonates strongly in the available literature on occupational surveillance systems is the need for careful consideration and planning for any new surveillance-related program. It is important to consider setting clear goals of a surveillance system, to consult with key informants, to consider data needs and management plans, privacy and legal issues, and communication with relevant stakeholders [18].

A co-benefit of surveillance (secondary prevention) among outdoor workers is that the system could be leveraged to prevent multiple health outcomes beyond only skin cancer in the future. People who work outdoors experience a variety of challenging workplace situations that may place their health at risk, over and above the risks posed by solar UVR exposure. These include excessive heat or cold (extreme

thermal environments)[21], exposure to infectious agents via insects (e.g. West Nile virus, Lyme disease) [22, 23], exposure to hazardous chemicals such as pesticides [24], exposure to photosensitizers that can increase the harm of solar UVR exposure (e.g. coal tar) [25], risk of injury (e.g. for outdoor construction workers [26]), exposure to organic [27] and inorganic [28] dusts, and exposure to hydrocarbons (such as via vehicle exhausts) [29]. These diverse workplace hazards place outdoor workers at risk of a wide variety of negative health outcomes, including but not limited to other cancers (beyond skin), heat stress and hypothermia, respiratory diseases, skin problems, infections, and physical injuries (for example from falls, equipment, or animals).

3.4 Research objectives:

The two main research objectives of this (primary prevention) project are:

- 1. What are the typical full-day UVR exposure levels for outdoor workers in Alberta?
- 2. What are the best practices for creating a sun exposure and skin cancer surveillance system for outdoor workers in Alberta?

To answer these two questions, this project report has two complimentary components. The first part (<u>Section 4</u>) reports on the measurements of solar UVR exposure in a group of Alberta's outdoor workers in order to benchmark the risk experienced in an area of high ambient UVR. The second part (<u>Section 5</u>) reports on the literature review and key informant interviews we performed to collect information on the surveillance of outdoor workers and their occupational health, specific to sun exposure. After evaluating these materials we provide a summary of the research overall, placing it in context for Alberta and suggesting some next steps for further research (<u>Section 6</u>).

Section 4: UVR measurement sub-study

The purpose of this first sub-study was to collect personal solar UVR exposure measurements from workers in Alberta and to assess which personal, work, and environmental factors are important determinants of personal daily solar UVR exposure.

4.1 Methodology

Study design

This cross-sectional study was conducted primarily in the province of Alberta, Canada during the summer of 2019. Personal solar UVR exposure measurements were collected from June through September. Workers were asked to wear an electronic UVR dosimeter for five consecutive working days, but shorter or longer participation was also permitted. Additionally, workers completed a questionnaire that collected demographic information, job characteristics, sun protection behaviours, and personal risk factors for skin cancer. Weather forecast parameters including temperature, humidity, wind conditions, and UV index were recorded daily from Environment Canada for each city/town [30].

Study sample

Recruitment was conducted by first contacting management or health and safety teams from building trade unions and employers primarily in the province of Alberta. A small number of participants in British Columbia and Saskatchewan were also included after they learned of the study via word of mouth. After a company consented to participate, outdoor workers, defined as those who regularly spend at least 2 hours outdoors per workday, were identified by their supervisors and invited to participate. Workers had to be 18 years of age or older, or if younger, have signed parental or guardian consent to participate. The study received ethical approval from the Health Research Ethics Board of Alberta – Cancer Committee (certificate HREBA.CC-18-0615).

Data collection

The personal UVR dosimeters used for the study were from Scienterra [31]. The dosimeter mechanism has been described elsewhere [31-33]. Briefly, these monitors can track temperature and the device's battery life, and they contain an analog-to-digital converter that measures the voltages produced by ultraviolet (UV) irradiance. UV irradiance is detected with aluminum-gallium-nitride photodiodes, which have a spectral response that is a close match to the erythemal action spectrum of human skin [34]. In order to convert the analog measurements into UV index measurements, the dosimeters were side-by-side calibrated with a gold-standard Brewer Spectrophotometer located in Stony Plain, Alberta [35]. The spectrophotometer measures spectral UV irradiation every 10 to 20 minutes during daylight hours. The dosimeters were programmed to take a UV measurement once per minute during the hours of 7AM and 5PM each day. Each per-minute measurement was converted to a UV Index value using the calibration curve (unique to each dosimeter), and the standard erythemal dose (SED_{day}) per day was calculated by summing the per-minute SED (SED_{minute}) by day, as per equations (1) and (2).

(1) $SED_{day} = \sum 7 \text{ am} - 5 \text{ pm} [SED_{minute}]$ (2) $SED_{minute} = \frac{(UVIndex_{minute} * 0.025 \text{ Wm}^{-2} * 60 \text{ s} \text{ min}^{-1})}{100 \text{ loulog m}^{-2}}$

where SEDday is the Standard Erythemal Dose per work day in Joules m-2; UV Indexminute is the UV Index (unitless) measured from the dosimeter badge per minute; 0.025 W m-2 is the standard unit for solar irradiance per unit of UV Index; and, 1 Joule = 1 Watt s-1 [36].

Workers were asked to wear their dosimeters for full work shifts over an entire sampling week(s) (5 sampling days) and were given the option of wearing it on their hardhat, pinned to their lapel, or on a wrist band (Figure 1); their selection of dosimeter location was recorded.



Figure 1. a) The UVR dosimeters used (in wrist band and lapel-pinned configuration) and b) the placement options (hardhat, shoulder/lapel, or wrist) presented to the workers

A paper questionnaire was administered to collect information on workers' sun habits, skin cancer risk factors, jobs, and demographics. Workers were asked to return the completed questionnaires to the study coordinator either in person or via email after their sampling period was complete. A copy of the questionnaire is included in <u>Appendix 1</u>. The coordinator was on site to clarify any questions at the beginning and end of each sampling period.

Variables and statistical analysis

Demographic variables included in the analysis were age, sex, education, ethnicity, city/region or latitude, and job title. Workers' jobs were categorized into five groups based on their self-reported job titles by an occupational hygienist: 1) trades (e.g. carpenters, bricklayers, concrete labourers, foremen, electricians, plumbers); 2) recreation (e.g. coaches, dog walkers, paddling instructors); 3) landscape/maintenance services (e.g. golf course maintenance workers, clubhouse servers, grounds keepers, parks labourers); 4) security (e.g. campus security, equipment technicians, parking enforcement, parking officers); and 5) professional services (e.g. mail delivery agents, project coordinators, fish and wildlife specialists, industrial hygienists).

Self-reported skin cancer risk factors were collected and analyzed, including history of blistering sunburn during childhood, family history of skin cancer, number of burns in the previous summer, hair colour (red/blonde, dark blonde/light brown, or dark brown/black), eye colour (blue/green/grey, hazel/light brown, and dark brown/black), and skin type. Workers' skin types were categorized by the researchers according to the Fitzpatrick skin types [37]; light to fair skin types were classified as Fitzpatrick types I and II, white to olive skin types were classified as Fitzpatrick III and IV, while olive to dark brown skin types were classified as Fitzpatrick V-VI. Analyses also considered forecast (sunny, cloudy, and mixed), hours worked outside, and dosimeter placement (hardhat or lapel/wrist). Lapel and wrist placements were grouped since too few workers selected the wrist placement. Basic descriptive statistics were calculated for all variables (means, standard error, ranges). Mean SED_{day} and standard errors, corrected for repeated measures, were generated using PROC MIXED. Bivariate analyses between the variables

and SED_{day} were conducted; each covariate was modelled independently and individually, with untransformed Total SED as the response variable. In addition, descriptive statistics (mean SED, range, and standard deviation) were calculated by trade and two hour windows (7:00-8:59, 9:00-10:59, 11:00-12:59, 13:00-14:59, 15:00-17:00). An ANOVA analysis was conducted to assess variations in SED across time windows and trade.

Workers' mean solar UVR doses were compared with the International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) threshold limit guideline of 30 Jm⁻² (corresponding to 1.0-1.3 SED) [38]. Results were presented in categories relative to the upper limit of this guideline (1.3 SED), and by trade (categories: <1.3 SED, and 1-2 times, >2-4 times, >4-10 times, and >10 times the guideline).

Actual maximum ultraviolet index (UVI) and maximum available UV dose were calculated using data from the Brewer Spectrophotometer for the city of Edmonton alone, as it is located closest to the Stony Plain Brewer Spectrophotometer (it cannot be assumed that the daily maximum available UV dose was the same for locations further from Stony Plain). Brewer data were downloaded for each study day. To calculate the maximum available UV dose, the SED accumulated per minute was calculated by integrating forward in time from the measurements that are collected every 10 to 20 minutes, with the assumption that the UV Index remains the same over that span. These per-minute values were then summed to obtain the maximum daily dose. Spearman rank correlation coefficients were calculated to characterize the agreement between forecasted and actual maximum UVI, and between forecasted maximum temperature and UVI for Edmonton. We chose Spearman correlation coefficients over Pearson correlation coefficients due to the bounded nature of UVI.

To account for any outliers that may have arisen due to static discharge, which can occasionally occur due to the dry Albertan climate, we implemented an outlier detection algorithm using the interquartile range of UVI values. For any given calendar date, the interquartile range of the UVI readings from every minute-by-minute dosimeter reading of every person in the study who wore the dosimeter on that date was calculated. Then, using formula (3) below as our threshold for removal, any minute-by-minute UVI reading that was above this threshold was overwritten to zero and assumed to be a potential "misfire" by the dosimeter. The result of implementing this algorithm is that, on a day-by-day basis, the maximum UVI readings that each dosimeter yielded are now much more likely to reflect the true UVI exposure rather than a false exposure value due to static discharge by the dosimeter.

(3) Threshold = $3rd Quartile + (1.5 \times Interquartile Range)$

Dosimeters that yielded a total SED reading of exactly zero for a given day were removed from the study since these readings indicated that the badges were incorrectly donned or not worn at all (n=20, corresponding to three workers that were excluded); these were considered idle days. An idle day was further defined to consist of any dosimeter reading that yielded a total SED reading below the 5th percentile of all total SED values in the study (0.026 SED). As a result, any dosimeter which yielded a total SED reading that was below this threshold was also excluded (n=30 days). Workers who only had readings below the threshold were likewise excluded from the study population. (n=1 worker)

We used SAS PROC MIXED to control for repeated measures per person and per calendar day, and to create marginal models assessing the determinants of sun exposure. Variables that were offered to the first model were: ethnicity, sex, education, history of childhood sunburn, family history of skin cancer, skin type, eye colour, hair colour, trade, city/region, dosimeter placement, age, hours of work outside, forecast, and number of burns in the previous summer. In the second model, city/region was replaced

with latitude. Variables included in the final model were restricted using a manual backwards stepwise regression method, in which variables where p>0.20) were sequentially removed until the best fitting model was found using the Akaike Information criterion (AIC).

4.2 Results

Demographics and skin cancer risk factors

In total, 192 workers were recruited for the study. Measurements were collected over a consecutive 106 day period (June 4 to September 17, inclusive) for a total of 982 person-days in which a dosimeter was worn. On average, dosimeters were worn for 5.13 days. After excluding zero-SED and idle days (n=50), 188 workers remained in the study, accounting for 932 measurement days (days for which a dosimeter was worn). These were worn for 4.96 days per worker, on average. After excluding workers with missing or implausible ages for the modelling analysis, 179 workers remained corresponding to 883 measurement days.

Participants were mostly male (75%), Caucasian (75%), young (mean 37 years), and mostly from the cities of Edmonton (44%) or Calgary (44%) (Table 1). Other cities/regions from which samples were collected (n=22) are Red Deer (6% of the total sample), Southern Alberta (1%), Central Alberta (2%), Kelowna (a city in British Columbia, 2%), and Saskatchewan (1%). The majority of participants worked in the trades (46%), followed by landscape/maintenance services (29%). On average, the workers spent 4.8 hours outdoors while at work. Only 31% of workers reported light to fair skin but approximately two thirds of workers experienced at least one sunburn in the preceding summer (Table 1).

Covariate	N	SED _{day} (SE)	Range	
Overall (uncorrected)	883 days	1.96 (0.08)	0.03 - 16.63	
	Corrected	Corrected for Repeated Measures		
Categorical variables	N (%)	SED _{day} (SE)	P-Value	
Overall				
All subjects	179	1.93 (0.13)		
Ethnicity (Missing=1)				
Caucasian/White	134 (75)	2.00 (0.15)	0.29	
Asian	23 (13)	1.36 (0.38)		
Other	21 (12)	1.95 (0.40)		
Sex (Missing=1)				
Male	133 (75)	2.00 (0.15)	0.39	
Female	45 (25)	1.74 (0.27)		
Education (Missing=7)				
Completed college	65 (38)	1.56 (0.22)	< 0.01	
Some college	60 (35)	1.73 (0.23)		
High school or less	47 (27)	2.65 (0.25)		
Childhood sunburn (Missing=3)				
Yes	99 (56)	1.88 (0.18)	0.70	
No	77 (44)	1.99 (0.21)		

Table 1. Descriptive statistics and personal solar ultraviolet radiation monitoring results by potential
determinant of exposure

Covariate	N	SED _{day} (SE)	Range
Family history of skin cancer (Missing=1)			
Yes	24 (13)	1.84 (0.36)	0.91
No	145 (81)	1.94 (0.15)	
Don't know	9 (5)	2.15 (0.62)	
Skin type ¹ (Missing=11)			
Light to fair (I – II)	52 (31)	1.98 (0.25)	0.92
White to olive (III-IV)	72 (43)	1.85 (0.21)	
Olive to dark brown (V-VI)	44 (26)	1.93 (0.28)	
Eye colour (Missing=0)			
Blue/green/grey	90 (50)	1.99 (0.19)	0.76
Hazel/light brown	30 (17)	2.01 (0.33)	
Dark brown/black	59 (33)	1.79 (0.23)	
Hair colour (Missing=0)			
Red/blonde	31 (17)	3.01 (0.30)	< 0.01
Dark blonde/light brown	64 (36)	1.64 (0.22)	
Dark brown/black	84 (47)	1.72 (0.19)	
Trade (Missing=0)			
Trade worker	82 (46)	1.90 (0.19)	< 0.01
Recreational worker	12 (7)	1.84 (0.49)	
Landscape/maintenance services	52 (29)	2.64 (0.23)	
Security worker	17 (9)	0.73 (0.42)	
Professional services	16 (9)	0.81 (0.46)	
City/Region (Missing=0)			
Calgary	78 (44)	2.14 (0.19)	0.02
Edmonton	79 (44)	1.52 (0.20)	
Other	22 (12)	2.60 (0.37)	
Dosimeter placement (Missing=0)			
Lapel/watch	152 (85)	1.61 (0.13)	< 0.01
Hardhat	27 (15)	3.59 (0.30)	
Forecast ² (Missing=0)			
Sunny	184 (21)	1.87 (0.12)	< 0.01
Mixed	467 (53)	2.23 (0.13)	
Cloudy	232 (26)	1.46 (0.15)	
Continuous variables	Mean (range)	β (SE) ³	P-Value
Age (in years; Missing=0)	37 (14-70)	0.004 (0.01)	0.64
Number of burns the previous summer (Missing=15)	1.6 (0-5)	0.21 (0.08)	0.01
Hours outside at work (Missing=3)	4.8 (1-6)	0.47 (0.09)	< 0.01

¹Skin type categories and values correspond to the Fitzpatrick scale [37]

²The frequency counts and % for f1orecast correspond to each sampled *day* (n=883) rather than each sampled *person* (n=179) ³Beta denotes the estimated adjusted average increase in SED_{day} associated with a 1-unit increase in the corresponding continuous variable

Meteorological results

The data collection period (June 4 to September 17) mostly experienced mixed sunny/cloudy weather (78 days), followed by cloudy and sunny days (68 and 41 days, respectively) (Table 2). The mean, maximum forecasted temperature over the data collection period ranged from 17.3 °C on cloudy days, to 23.6°C on sunny days. Similarly, the forecasted maximum UVI was lowest on cloudy days (4.8) compared to sunny (6.6) and mixed days (6.8). Brewer spectrophotometer data were available for Edmonton alone. Agreement between the forecasted and actual maximum UVI for Edmonton was strong and statistically significant for sunny (Spearman coefficient=0.93, p<0.01), mixed (0.70; p-value<0.01), and cloudy days (Spearman coefficient=0.56, p<0.01). Agreement between the forecasted maximum temperature and UVI was statistically significant among sunny (0.80; p-value<0.01) and cloudy days (0.50; p-value=0.01), but not for mixed days (0.28, p=0.13).

Region	Forecast	N Days (%)	Forecasted maximum UVI (mean, SD)	Actual maximum UVI (mean, SD)*	Maximum available UV dose (SED) (mean, SD)*	Maximum forecasted temperature (mean, SD)
	Sunny	12 (16.7)	6.3 (1.1)	5.4 (1.1)	27.3 (7.7)	23.0 (3.8)
Edmonton	Mixed	31 (43.1)	6.5 (1.3)	5.8 (1.2)	27.3 (8.2)	20.8 (2.4)
	Cloudy	29 (40.3)	4.1 (1.6)	4.4 (1.9)	16.0 (7.0)	16.7 (3.2)
Overall	Sunny	41 (21.9)	6.6 (1.4)	n/a	n/a	23.6 (5.0)
	Mixed	78 (41.7)	6.8 (1.2)	n/a	n/a	21.8 (3.6)
	Cloudy	68 (36.4)	4.8 (1.8)	n/a	n/a	17.3 (4.2)

Table 2. Forecasted and observed UVI, UV dose, and temperature, by region and forecast

*Actual maximum UVI and available dose were calculated for Edmonton alone, which is where the Brewer Spectrophotometer is located

Ultraviolet radiation dosimetry results

The exposure measurements (SED_{day}) were log-normally distributed. The mean SED_{day}, uncorrected for repeated measures, was 1.96 (SE=0.01), and the corrected mean SED_{day} was 1.93 (SE= 0.13). Overall, the measurements ranged from 0.03 to 16.63 (Table 1).

Mean and maximum SED were highest from 11:00-12:59 and 13:00-14:59, over all trades (Table 3). Variations in SED by trade, time increment, and their interaction were highly significant (p<0.0001; ANOVA results not shown). The range in exposure was lowest in the earliest time increment (0.00-1.66 SED) and largest from 13:00-14:59 (0.00-6.29 SED).

Solar UV exposure differed by education, showing a pattern of decreasing exposure with increasing levels of education (Table 1). Exposure also differed by hair colour, with workers who had lighter hair colour being exposed to higher levels. The strongest relationships (p<0.01) were observed between SED_{day} and trade, city, forecast, and dosimeter placement. Workers in landscape and maintenance services, as well as trade and recreational workers were exposed to levels two to four times the average exposure experienced by security workers and professional services. Exposure levels varied by city/region, with workers in the "other" cities/regions experiencing the highest average levels (2.60 SED), followed by Calgary (2.14 SED), and Edmonton (1.52 SED). In particular, Red Deer appeared to have the highest average SED levels of the other cities/regions (4.02 SED). However, due to large standard errors resulting from small sample sizes, the "other" cities/regions were grouped here and in

the modelling analyses, below. Exposure on mixed days was highest (2.23 SED) when compared to cloudy and sunny days (1.46 and 1.87 SED, respectively). Finally, mean exposure measurements were more than double when the dosimeters were placed on hardhats compared to the lapel/watch placements.

Time	Statistic	All Trades	Trade Worker	Recreational Worker	Landscape/ Maintenance Services	Security Worker	Professional Services
	Ν	825	411	23	276	78	37
	Mean	0.12	0.08	0.05	0.23	0.06	0.02
7:00-8:59	Std. Dev	0.22	0.14	0.07	0.31	0.14	0.04
	Min	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Max	1.66	1.66	0.22	1.61	0.64	0.18
	Ν	921	451	57	288	78	47
	Mean	0.47	0.33	0.75	0.74	0.24	0.19
9:00-10:59	Std. Dev	0.68	0.46	0.70	0.93	0.43	0.19
	Min	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Max	4.99	3.43	2.85	4.99	1.85	0.76
	Ν	915	452	56	280	80	47
	Mean	0.61	0.47	0.67	0.99	0.22	0.36
11:00-12:59	Std. Dev	0.95	0.64	0.66	1.38	0.44	0.35
	Min	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Max	9.14	5.61	3.43	9.14	1.71	1.43
	Ν	931	449	61	270	104	47
	Mean	0.53	0.44	0.59	0.76	0.40	0.29
13:00-14:59	Std. Dev	0.81	0.57	0.57	1.13	0.88	0.30
	Min	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Max	6.29	4.86	2.79	6.29	4.67	1.34
	Ν	758	428	49	124	104	53
	Mean	0.25	0.31	0.40	0.12	0.12	0.19
15:00-17:00	Std. Dev	0.45	0.51	0.50	0.37	0.26	0.28
	Min	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Max	4.99	4.99	1.93	3.38	1.89	1.68

Table 3. SED exposure by time window and trade

Table 4 compares the study measurements to the internationally recommended occupational exposure limit guideline (1.3 SED). Overall, approximately half of the measurements were above the recommended guideline. Security workers and professional services had the lowest levels of UVR exposure, with approximately 77% and 75% of measurements falling below the international occupational exposure limit guideline, respectively, while landscape and maintenance services had the highest levels of exposure followed by trade workers, with 30% and 23% of measurements exceeding double the guideline, respectively.

1-2x >2-4x >4-10x >10x < guideline Trade guideline guideline guideline guideline (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) 220 (54.5) 92 (22.8) 74 (18.3) 15 (3.7) 3 (0.7) Trade worker Landscape and maintenance 141 (50.0) 53 (18..8) 31 (11.0) 52 (18.4) 5 (1.8) services Security worker 67 (77.9) 5 (5.8) 9 (10.5) 5 (5.8) 0 (0.0) **Professional services** 38 (74.5) 12 (23.5) 0 (0.0) 0 (0.0) 1 (2.0) **Recreational worker** 27 (45.0) 12 (20.0) 18 (30.0) 3 (5.0) 0 (0.0) Overall 493 (55.8) 174 (19.7) 133 (15.1) 75 (8.5) 8 (0.9)

Table 4. Distribution of the personal solar UVR measurements (%) by multiples of the recommended occupational exposure limit guideline (1.3 SED)

Estimated coefficients for the final multivariable marginal model are summarized in Table 5. A separate model incorporating latitude instead of city/region was also performed; however, only model results with city/region are presented since latitude was not as strong of a predictor of solar UVR exposure (p>0.20). All other available variables were presented to the model. Ethnicity, age, eye colour, skin type, sex, family history of skin cancer, number of sunburns the previous summer, and presence of childhood sunburns were removed in the backward selection process, in order from least to most significant. In the final model, hair color, education, trade, city, dosimeter placement, forecast, and number of hours outside at work remained significant determinants of solar UV exposure (p<0.20), of which trade, dosimeter placement, forecast, and number of hours outside at work were statistically significant (p<0.05) (Table 5; see <u>Appendix 2</u> for an explanation of how to interpret model findings).

4.3 Discussion

Overall context

This study builds on previous research to better quantify solar UVR exposures among Canadian workers. Consistent with peak ambient UVR in Canada, peak exposure among this group of workers occurred between 11:00 and 15:00. However, our results indicate that even within a geographically constrained area, exposure to solar UVR among outdoor workers is highly variable, with exposure ranging from 0.03 to 16.63 SED. These findings are similar to those in a study of outdoor workers in the Vancouver area, where workers were exposed to mean levels of 1.08 SED (ranging from 0.01 to 19.2 SED) [36]. However, the results are more variable compared to those from a study of construction workers in Romania, where daily doses ranged from 1.28 to 6.4 SED [39], and our results are lower compared to a study of outdoor workers spanning three Canadian provinces (mean exposure of 6.1 SED, ranging from approximately 0 to 26.5 SED) [40]. The differences in exposure across these studies may be the result of the jobs that were included; for example, the study assessing exposure across the three Canadian provinces focused on a subset of workers (utility and municipality workers), where overall exposure may be higher compared to the broader groups included in our study. Many other workplace solar UVR measurement studies have been conducted across the world, including countries with comparable latitudes to Canada. However, comparing overall exposure measurements across jurisdictions and studies is difficult, given the multitude of factors that influence solar UV exposure, such as differences in time spent outdoors, work tasks, altitude, latitude, etc. [1, 41, 42], in addition to differences in study design and measurement methods.

Predictor	Coefficient (SE)	P-Value
Intercept	-1.29 (0.32)	< 0.01
Education (p = 0.043)		
High school or less	0.29 (0.17)	0.09
Some college	-0.14 (0.16)	0.41
Completed college	0 (Ref.)	
Hair colour (p = 0.111)		
Dark brown/black	-0.07 (0.15)	0.66
Red/blonde	0.33 (0.20)	0.10
Dark blonde/light brown	0 (Ref.)	
Trade (p = 0.003)		
Landscape/maintenance services	-0.03 (0.17)	0.84
Professional services	-0.54 (0.28)	0.05
Recreational worker	0.18 (0.28)	0.53
Security worker	-0.97 (0.26)	< 0.01
Trade worker	0 (Ref.)	
City/Region (p = 0.028)		
Edmonton	0.12 (0.16)	0.45
Other	0.65 (0.24)	0.01
Calgary	0 (Ref.)	
Dosimeter placement (p = 0.022)		
Hardhat	0.47 (0.20)	0.02
Lapel/watch	0 (Ref.)	
Forecast (p < 0.001)		
Cloudy	-0.75 (0.11)	< 0.01
Mixed	0.03 (0.10)	0.78
Sunny	0 (Ref.)	
Number of hours outside at work (p < 0.001)		
Continuous variable	0.26 (0.05)	< 0.01

Table 5. Model results: predictors of SED_{day} (Standard Erythemal Dose per day)

P-values listed with the covariate headers indicate the significance of their Type III Tests of Fixed Effects, i.e. overall significance in the model.

Dosimeter placement in our study had a significant effect on solar UVR measurements, with hardhat placements having a statistically higher mean SED_{day} compared to the lapel/watch placement. This was expected, since hardhat dosimeters are more likely to be exposed to the sun regardless of position compared to the wrist and lapel dosimeters, which may become obscured depending on the positioning of workers' bodies. Similar findings were observed in a Canadian sampling study conducted by Peters et al. (2016) as well as studies that have more systematically assessed the impact of dosimeter placement on exposure level by collecting measurements from multiple body locations [13, 43]. In these, the

average solar UVR exposure was highest when the dosimeters were placed near the head area compared to other body parts, and individual level factors such as posture, movement of the body, and orientation towards the sun highly influenced exposure. After controlling for other variables, the badge placement effects were still statistically significant in our model results, indicating that future studies should at the very least consider dosimeter placement in the study design and analysis. In solar UVR monitoring studies, allowing workers to select the dosimeter placement (according to comfort and feasibility) will be instrumental in maximizing participation rates. Despite the observed differences, the mean exposure levels among both the hardhat and the lapel/watch dosimeter placement groups were higher than the international occupational exposure limit guideline, indicating that either can be important when assessing workers' solar UV dose.

The UVR exposure among workers from the "other" cities/regions was higher compared to the Calgary workers in a statistically significant manner in the bivariate and combined analyses. This may partly be explained by differences in dosimeter placement and trade. There was a greater relative proportion of workers who wore the dosimeters on their hardhats and who worked in landscaping and maintenance, which experienced the highest exposure levels, in the "other" regions compared to Calgary. After controlling for covariates in the marginal model, a regional effect persisted with workers from the "other" city/regions experiencing significantly elevated exposures compared to Calgary. Levels appeared to be highest among the workers in Red Deer, specifically; but, given the small sample size and large variability in the measurements, additional samples should be collected across sites to determine if the regional effect is real. Potential contributors to the regional/city variation include differences in sun protection behaviours and latitude. However, latitude was not a significant predictor of solar UVR exposure in the marginal model and there were no apparent differences in sun protection behaviours by city/region, indicating that if the regional effect persists after additional sampling, there may be other factors influencing solar UVR exposure among this group of workers.

Forecast and trade were strong predictors of solar UVR exposure. As expected, workers were exposed to the lowest levels of solar UVR on cloudy days. However, interestingly, the highest levels of solar UVR were observed on mixed days. These results differed from the model results presented in a Vancouver study, in which solar UVR exposure decreased progressively from sunny to mixed and cloudy days [36]. Differences in sun protection behaviours by forecast may partly explain the difference; while sunny days generally offer more opportunity for exposure, workers may better engage in sun protection behaviours on sunny days compared to mixed days [44]. By trade, security workers and professional services experienced a lower dose compared to trade workers, which can be explained by the fact that security workers and professional services are more likely to include indoor work or to have more readily available shade structures. Higher doses were observed among landscape/maintenance services workers overall. However, this is likely due in part to the larger proportion of landscape/maintenance services workers and trade workers did not differ significantly and in fact, landscape/maintenance services workers were associated with a lower overall dose compared to trade workers.

Strengths

The size of the study is a major strength. With over 850 full-day measurements collected from 179 workers, this is the largest study in terms of measurements collected in Canada. This, in combination with the demographic, job, and sun protection behavior information that was collected, allowed for a detailed analysis of numerous predictors of solar UVR exposure among outdoor workers with sufficient

power to detect statistically significant findings. Even so, there was a paucity of data within certain groups (i.e. only four workers wore the dosimeters on their wrists), leading to the inability to properly assess the contribution of some factors, such as dosimeter placement, on measured exposure. In the future, efforts should be taken to ensure adequate samples are collected across the dosimeter placement groups so that the impacts of dosimeter placement in real life settings can be effectively assessed. However, studies solely looking to assess workers' exposures should accommodate workers' preferred placements in order to capture their main exposure site, as determined by the worker, and to account for different uses of personal protective equipment across work settings (e.g. some workers may not wear hardhats).

The study used electronic dosimeters, allowing for the collection of multiple samples over a working week and a more accurate indicator of workers' average exposure over the summer months. Polysulfone badges have commonly been used by researchers in this area since their introduction in the late 1970s [45]. However, these may be cumbersome for workers to use over longer durations because the polysulfone badges must be kept in complete darkness outside of the sampling period. The electronic badges used in this study were simple for workers to use, making it more feasible to collect exposure measurements over a full workweek or longer. Although the function of the electronic dosimeters have not yet been compared with polysulfone badges, they both use the same principles for measuring solar UVR exposure and were calibrated with similar instruments and weighting functions [31, 33].

Limitations

There are a number of limitations that should be noted. Employers were not randomly selected for inclusion in the study, and employers were asked to identify employees for participation in the study, leaving the study open to selection bias. Because the participating workplaces and workers may have different characteristics compared to those who did not, the findings may not be applicable to the broader population of outdoor workers in Alberta. However, conducting a study with randomly selected workers is not feasible in many exposure monitoring studies and care was taken to minimize potential for selection bias. For example, employers were asked to identify and invite all workers that spent greater than two hours outdoors during their work shifts. As previously mentioned, we were unable to estimate the contribution of the wrist dosimeter placement on solar UVR dose due to a low sample size. In the future, special consideration of the dosimeter placement must be taken, based on the study purpose. Finally, samples were only collected over the summer months. The summer of 2019 was much less sunny than is typical for Alberta and additional sampling to characterize outdoor workers' typical summertime exposure to solar UV in Alberta is needed. Although solar UVR exposure over the winter months is likely minimal in the cold Canadian winters because workers are more likely to be covered and because the daylight hours are shorter, studies assessing winter time exposures (and albedo effects due to snow coverage) in Canada have not been conducted. More work should be done to understand how solar UVR exposure may differ in the winter across Canada.

Knowledge translation completed and in progress

We have created several knowledge products in relation to this study, and have some more work planned that will continue post-project.

1. Webinar

• We advertised and hosted a webinar on February 27, 2020 to share the results of both the measurements and the monitoring sub-study. Approximately 80 people attended

the webinar, which had a lively Q&A period. A post-webinar survey was sent out which was filled out by 14 participants (a copy of the survey results is included in <u>Appendix 3</u>).

- 2. Reports to workers and managers
 - Confidential personalized results reports were shared with workers who provided contact information, and a summary report was provided to employers with at least five staff members participating in the study. No information for individual workers was provided to employers, only summary data. For employers with less than five staff in the study, a broad report with results of the study overall was provided.
- 3. Scientific paper submitted
 - We submitted a paper containing the results of this sub-study to the journal *Environmental Research* in May 2020. We received a minor revision request from the journal's editor, and have since made the requested edits and resubmitted the paper for publication on June 29, 2020. The paper is titled "<u>Solar ultraviolet radiation exposure</u> <u>among outdoor workers in Alberta, Canada</u>" and was authored by Ela Rydz, Andrew Harper, Brandon Leong, Victoria Arrandale, Sunil Kalia, Lindsay Forsman-Phillips, D. Linn Holness, Thomas Tenkate, and Cheryl Peters.
- 4. Work on sun protection behaviours
 - We decided to use other data collected in the study (but not related to the research questions posed by this grant project) to examine which sun safety behaviours the workers in our study were engaging in, and whether or not these differ by their working versus leisure time. The analysis for this paper is now complete and we are writing it up for submission to a journal (expected submission, August 2020).
- 5. Abstract: 5th International UV and Skin Cancer Conference (Belgium)
 - This conference was originally scheduled for May, 2020, but has since been postponed to May, 2021. We have an accepted abstract based on the UVR sub-study entitled: "Solar ultraviolet radiation exposure among outdoor workers in Alberta, Canada." We will share the results of the study at that time (barring any further postponements). https://uvandskincancer2020.org/
- 6. Web presence: CAREX Canada website and Sun Safety at Work Canada
 - As soon as results are completely final (i.e. two primary results papers have gone through peer review), we will update the current project page (<u>https://www.carexcanada.ca/special-topics/sun-safety/</u>) as well as create a study page on the Sun Safety at Work Canada website (<u>https://sunsafetyatwork.ca/</u>). We are currently working with partners to develop visually-appealing content for this purpose. We anticipate this will go live in fall 2020.

Section 5: Monitoring sub-study

The purpose of this second sub-study was to investigate via a literature review and key informant interviews whether occupational surveillance has been conducted for outdoor workers previously, to identify the key planning components for structuring an effective occupational surveillance program and to better understand the best practices for the design and implementation of a potential surveillance system for outdoor workers.

5.1 Methods

Methodology for best practices in surveillance/literature review

As part of this second sub-project a literature review was conducted in order to determine whether occupational surveillance has been conducted for outdoor workers previously and to identify the key planning components for structuring an effective occupational surveillance program. The literature review included searches of both scientific and grey literature. An Alberta Health Services (AHS) librarian was consulted to help with designing effective search strategies. For the scientific literature search, a search strategy was developed combining the following four concepts: occupational surveillance/ outdoor workers; occupational disease or exposure/outdoor workers; occupational surveillance and outdoor workers/solar UVR; best practices for occupational surveillance. Several scientific databases were searched (MEDLINE, PubMed, Web of Science and Scopus), and the search strategy was adapted to each of them. The snowballing search technique was also used to find additional references from the bibliographies of the most cited relevant articles and documents. In order to identify relevant grey literature sources Google and Google Scholar were used, as well various countries' occupational hygiene/health and safety organizations were consulted. The results of the literature search have been saved in an EndNote database.

After reviewing the searched literature it became clear that there is no literature available that focusses specifically on occupational surveillance systems for outdoor workers. To obtain a better understanding of occupational surveillance systems it was necessary to look beyond only outdoor workers and to include surveillance systems that focus on various occupational diseases (ODs) that workers may be diagnosed with, or exposures they may experience.

The main criteria for literature inclusion in the "Table of Surveillance Practices" (<u>Appendix 4</u>) are: 1) articles/reports that describe an occupational surveillance system and include either guidelines/description on how it was designed or functions, 2) articles/reports that describe some of the barriers/challenges (limitations) as well as facilitators (strengths) of the surveillance system, and 3) articles/reports that focus on the inclusion of NMSC as an occupational disease.

There were two specific aims for the literature retrieved: the first aim was to obtain a better understanding of the various types of occupational surveillance systems or strategies that exist (country of origin, what is the type of surveillance or surveillance strategy, what types of exposures/outcomes does it include). The second aim was to determine whether the described system can be applied to outdoor workers with a primary focus on NMSC.

Methodology for key informant interviews

22 telephone interviews were conducted between August 28, 2019 and January 8, 2020 to better understand the best practices for the design and implementation of a potential surveillance system for outdoor workers and the barriers and facilitators to creating, managing and ensuring the ongoing success of a potential occupational surveillance system for outdoor workers. Participants were chosen based on the following criteria:

- Canadian representation, with emphasis on jurisdictions that have experience designing or implementing occupational surveillance systems and/or expertise in skin cancer prevention/sun safety programs
- 2. International perspective, with emphasis on jurisdictions that have well-established/strong experience designing or implementing occupational surveillance systems and/or expertise in skin cancer prevention
- 3. Inclusion of a broad spectrum of stakeholders (i.e., regulators, researchers, physicians)

The interviews ranged from 35 minutes to 60 minutes in length and were conducted by one member of the study team. The interviews were recorded, transcribed, and analyzed for common themes. The interview component of the study received ethical approval from the Cancer Committee of the Health Research Ethics Board of Alberta (certificate #18-0615). For further reference refer to the interview questions in <u>Appendix 5.</u>

Of the 22 interviews, 11 were with individuals working within Canada and 11 were with individuals from other countries. Also 13 of the interviewees had direct experience with occupational surveillance systems and 9 had specific experience with skin cancer prevention programs (or research).

The interviewees represented the following jurisdictions:

- Alberta: Ministry of Labour and Immigration; Alberta Health Services (2)
- British Columbia: WorkSafeBC (2)
- **Ontario:** Ministry of Labour; Occupational Cancer Research Center (OCRC) (2); Canadian Dermatology Association
- Saskatchewan: Saskatchewan Cancer Agency
- Nova Scotia: Nova Scotia Health Authority Cancer Care Program; Nova Scotia Department of Labour and Advanced Education; Sun Safe Nova Scotia Coalition
- United Kingdom: University of Manchester
- The Netherlands: Academic Medical Center Amsterdam
- Norway: Norwegian Labour Inspection Authority
- Italy: University of Modena
- Germany: Deutsche Gesetzliche Unfallsvesicherung (DGUV); University of Osnabrueck
- Australia: QIMR Berghofer; University of Sydney
- USA: The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH); Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC); Safety and Health Assessment and Research for Prevention (SHARP)

5.2 Results (1): Outcome of the literature review

What is surveillance?

Surveillance is defined by the CDC as "the ongoing, systematic collection, analysis, and interpretation of health data, essential to the planning, implementation and evaluation of public health practice, closely integrated with the dissemination of these data to those who need to know" [46]. The purpose of surveillance systems for occupational health and safety is to "provide(s) the data and analyses needed to understand the relationships between work and injuries and illnesses in order to improve worker safety and health and prevent work-related injuries and illnesses" [17]. Typically surveillance starts with planning and designing the system, collecting the data, organizing and managing the data, analyzing the data, interpreting the results, then communicating the information to the groups of people who need to

know [47]. The final task of a surveillance system is to guide policy or help to put interventions or prevention programs in motion [17].

In Canada there is no national single all-encompassing occupational surveillance system or systematic process for surveillance, but instead occupational health and safety (OHS) is a provincial responsibility in which provinces design their own occupational surveillance schemes to accomplish specific surveillance objectives [48]. Occupational surveillance systems have strengths and weaknesses and in North America they focus for the most part on health outcomes as opposed to specific hazards and exposures [17]. Work-related disease or occupational disease information (as opposed to injury) has not been included in most occupational surveillance schemes in Canada. Recently, however, Ontario has developed the Occupational Disease Surveillance System (ODSS) with the goal of providing trends in occupational disease [49].

Why is surveillance of outdoor workers important?

Outdoor workers are exposed to numerous workplace hazards. These hazards or exposures place the outdoor worker at risk for a wide variety of negative health outcomes, including cancers, heat stress and hypothermia, respiratory diseases, skin problems, infections, and physical injuries (for example from falls, equipment, or animals). In particular solar UVR is a substantial risk factor for outdoor workers and has been underestimated if not neglected as an occupational risk [1]. Since 1992 the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has deemed solar radiation as carcinogenic to humans (group 1) [50] and in 2012 IARC reviewed solar radiation and UV radiation and deemed UV emitting tanning devices as well as UVA, UVB and UVC as carcinogenic to humans (group 1) [51]. NMSC is the most diagnosed type of cancer and solar UVR is the main cause of NMSC in fair skinned people [52]. There is an increasing body of research linking solar UVR exposure in outdoor workers to the increasing incidence of NMSC [53, 54]. In various countries and regions exposure measurements (using personal dosimeters) of outdoor workers show high exposures to UVR compared with the general public [53]. Due to this very real risk to outdoor workers it is important that this at-risk group of workers be monitored or surveilled to ensure that proper primary prevention strategies are in place to minimize the risk of developing NMSC, to ensure that disease is caught at an early stage and to ensure that incidences of NMSC in outdoor workers are tracked. This can be done via an occupational surveillance program that focusses on outdoor workers and NMSC.

Key outcome

A key outcome of the literature review was that we found that no countries have designed or implemented an occupational surveillance system focused solely on outdoor workers. Some countries have developed surveillance systems that include NMSC and/or skin diseases (for e.g. EPIDERM), however, many countries do not include NMSC or sun exposure in their occupational surveillance systems or if it is included incidences or exposures are not reported regularly [54-59]. This may be for various reasons including that NMSC is not recognized as an OD, NMSC is rarely captured in cancer registries, it is a disease that has a long latency, doctors do not always link the cause of NMSC to work, there is limited understanding of the risk that solar UVR puts on outdoor workers and NMSC is simply too common and difficult to keep track of.

To obtain a better understanding of occupational surveillance systems, five surveillance strategies (exposure registry, disease registry, disease screening/medical surveillance, sentinel event surveillance and disease surveillance via data linkage) were consulted. These five surveillance strategies were most prevalent in the literature (as summarized in the Table of Surveillance Practices (<u>Appendix 4</u>)) and for this reason were examined in greater detail. These strategies have been used in various countries around the world, often have a long history of being utilized, and have strengths and weaknesses and

could potentially be used for outdoor workers/NMSC. The five strategies can be defined as being either an occupational disease surveillance method or an occupational exposure surveillance method. Occupational disease surveillance involves "the systematic monitoring of health events in working populations in order to prevent and control occupational hazards and their associated diseases and injuries" [60]. Occupational exposure or hazard surveillance recognizes, collects and assesses information about work processes or workers exposed to a high level of exposure or risk in particular industries or job categories [61].

In Tables 6 and Table 7 the five surveillance strategies are described with a short definition, strengths, limitations, a current example, characteristics of this example and whether the strategy could be applicable to NMSC or solar UVR. Of interest is the fact that each strategy has strengths and limitations and cannot perfectly accomplish all surveillance goals. The common limitation among the 5 strategies is the underreporting of OD or the under-participation of physicians or workers in the surveillance program. Minimizing underreporting/under-participation is definitely a factor that needs to be considered when designing an occupational surveillance program. <u>Appendix 6</u> contains an in-depth description of the 5 surveillance strategies.

Surveillance Type	Surveillance strategy	Definition	Strengths	Limitations	Example	Characteristics	Can be used for NMSC/ solar UVR?
Exposure	Exposure Registry	Collects information about workers who have been exposed to a specific occupational risk or risks	-Allows for early identification of at-risk jobs or workers and disease -Allows for implementation of interventions that will prevent occupational injury and illness from occurring	-If voluntary results in underreporting -Generally only effective for specific high-hazard worksites or industries -If mandatory there is a need for legislation to be put in place	WorksafeBC exposure registry	-Since 2012 -British Columbia, Canada -Voluntary system -Exposures included: asbestos, formaldehyde, head lice, hepatitis, HIV, isocyanates, lead, meningitis, mercury, mould, noise, scabies, shingles, silica, thallium, tuberculosis, wood dust or other -Workers, employers, and others can record on-the-job exposures to harmful substances	Yes
Disease	Disease Registry	Collects information about workers who have been diagnosed with a specific disease	-Helps contribute to the secondary prevention of the disease -Helps to detect patterns of disease and this information can be used to prevent disease and reduce the health, economic and social costs	-Typically voluntary which results in underreporting -Exposure information collected retrospectively -Less useful for purposes of prevention -Limited by physician recognition of disease and willingness to participate (under- participation)	EPIDERM (Occupational skin surveillance)	-Since 1993 -Part of The Health and Occupation Reporting network (THOR) in UK -Voluntary reporting of occupational skin disease(including skin cancer) by 150 consultant dermatologists (20 core reporters report monthly and the remainder are sample reporters who are sampled at random and report for one month only each year) -Collects information about diagnosis, primary site of diagnosis, job title, industry, causal exposures (as reported by the physician), as well as date of first exposure	Yes
Disease	Disease screening/ medical surveillance	Monitors the occurrence of a specific disease or diseases within a defined population	-Program usually mandated by a regulatory body -Allows for early diagnosis and treatment of a specific OD -Reduces the chances of disease worsening or death	-Under-participation by workers in the actual screening (often due to fear of discrimination, job loss, that test results are not confidential, positive test results)	Coal Workers Health Surveillance Program (CWHSP)	-Since 1969 -NIOSH, USA -Mandatory to offer/voluntary to participate -To help prevent early coal workers' pneumoconiosis or black lung from progressing to a disabling disease	Yes

Table 6. Surveillance strategies (Exposure Registry, Disease Registry, and Disease Screening/Medical Surveillance)

Note: Exposure registry ([19, 62, 63], Disease registry ([19, 64-67]), Disease screening [68-71])

Surveillance Type	Surveillance strategy	Definition	Strengths	Limitations	Example	Characteristics	Can be used for NMSC/ solar UVR
Disease	Sentinel Event Surveillance	Involves the ongoing/rapid identification of sentinel health events (defined as a preventable disease, disability, or untimely death that serves as a warning signal)	-Identifies emerging occupational hazards -Reduces exposure and eliminates risks	-Often mandatory to report OD, but not in practice. This results in underreporting	Norwegian Labor Inspectorate (NLI) Registry for Work- Related disease (RAS)	-Since 1977 -Norway -Mandatory for physicians to report all suspected and confirmed cases of work-related diseases to the Norwegian Labour Inspectorate (NLI) central registry -A physician reports a suspected or confirmed work-related disease to the NLI, the reported cases are evaluated by the NLI physicians, and the report is entered into an electronic database, the report is then sent to the regional NLI offices and they are responsible for deciding whether the case will be investigated further or an intervention put in place	Yes
Disease	Disease Surveillance via Data Linkage	Links various data sources to estimate the extent and distribution of occupational disease	-Provides reliable occupational information -Identifies at-risk groups of workers, and potential hazardous exposures, within the workplace -Contributes to understanding of occupational disease and can support changes to public health practice	-System only includes individuals who have actually submitted a workers compensation claim -Occupational information is only available at the time the claim is submitted	Occupational Disease Surveillance System (ODSS)	-Since 2016 -Ontario, Canada -Links existing provincial health databases with job information in order to study occupational disease and inform prevention activities -Data sources include: WSIB Time- Loss Claims Database, Registered Persons Database(RPDB), Ontario Cancer Registry(OCR), OHIP eClaims Database, National Ambulatory Care Reporting System(NACRS), Discharge Abstract Database(DAD)	Yes

Table 7. Surveillance strategies (Sentinel Event Surveillance, Disease Surveillance via Data Linkage)

Note: Sentinel Event Surveillance ([19, 72, 73], Disease surveillance via data linkage ([48, 62, 74, 75]

5.2 Results (2): Outcome of key informant interviews

Perspectives from selected Canadian and international jurisdictions

Interviews were conducted with 22 key informants in Canada (Alberta, British Columbia, Ontario, Saskatchewan, and Nova Scotia), Europe (the Netherlands, Norway, Italy, and Germany), the United Kingdom, Australia and the United States. As noted earlier in this report, participants were principally chosen on the basis of whether they had experience in designing or implementing occupational surveillance systems and/or expertise in skin cancer prevention/research.

The input received has been synthesized under the following three headings:

- 1. What are the perceived barriers to developing and implementing an effective occupational surveillance program?
- 2. What are the perceived facilitators to developing and implementing an effective occupational surveillance program?
- 3. What are the key considerations to developing and implementing an effective occupational surveillance program?

In Table 8 the top five barriers/challenges to developing and implementing an occupational surveillance system are presented. 59% of the key informants mentioned underreporting/under-participation as a key barrier and this corresponds with what is presented in the literature. All of these potential barriers need to be considered when designing an occupational surveillance program.

In Table 9 the top five facilitators in the development and implementation of an occupational surveillance system are presented. 64% of the key informants mentioned communication/collaboration at all levels as a key facilitator. This key component could promote buy in to a surveillance program and help to minimize underreporting/under-participation. Having all these potential facilitators in place would be beneficial when designing an occupational surveillance program.

<u>Appendix 7</u> contains an in-depth description of the key informant interviews.

Table 8. Barriers to developing and implementing an occupational surveillance system

Barriers/challenges	Number of informants	Significance
	identifying this barrier	
Underreporting/under-	13 (59%)	-Mentioned as a limitation in the literature as well
participation		-Makes it difficult to assess the true numbers of ODs
		-Due to long latency of ODs
		-Difficulty linking OD to work activities
		-Physicians do not have time to report
		-Physicians lack OD knowledge
		-Employee does not want disease recognized as work-related
Funding	11 (50%)	-Funding needs to be for the long term to sustain a proper
		surveillance program.
		-Often funding comes from research grants and there is no
		guarantee it will continue long term
Lack of awareness of risk	7 (32%)	-Employees/employers often do not understand the
		occupational risk they face
		-Employees/employers are less likely to participate in
		surveillance activities
Mandatory vs voluntary	5 (23%)	-Programs are often voluntary in nature and this results in
		underreporting/under-participation
Lack of a collection	5 (23%)	-Currently in Canada there is no collection mechanism for
mechanism		NMSC
		-NMSC is not included in cancer registries
		-Difficult to ascertain numbers of NMSC cases
		-Occupation information is also not collected (link between
		OD and work is difficult to make)

* Other barriers mentioned included: Cost of preventive measures, Lack of an OEL for sun exposure, NMSC not recognized as an OD

Table 9: Facilitators in the development and implementation of an occupational surveillance system

Facilitators	Number of informants identifying this facilitator	Significance
Communication/ collaboration	14 (64%)	 -Critical to have all stakeholders at the table as this facilitates buy in to the program -Allows for better understanding of what is going to happen and why information is being collected -Can be accomplished via Outreach/education at worksite -Direct contact (relationship building) with employers and workers allows for buy in and means they are more likely to participate in surveillance
Simple reporting process	5 (23%)	-Will allow for buy in particularly from physicians -Reporters do not want to spend a lot of time reporting -Can combat underreporting
Long term funding	5 (23%)	-Surveillance is a long term proposition -Guaranteed funding will allow for a strong program that will be impactful
Strong team/leadership	4 (18%)	-Will make the surveillance system manageable and successful in the long run
Physician related factors	4 (18%)	 Better education of physicians so that they can recognize OD and report it Educating physicians about the usefulness of surveillance and how it helps workers Have physicians collect occupation information so that there is a record of occupation

* Other facilitators mentioned included: Legislation, Strong scientific evidence, Incentives, Clear goal

5.3 Discussion

We did not find any occupational surveillance systems in the grey or published literature that focused directly on outdoor workers. However, we were able to collect and summarize a wide variety of surveillance programs that have been created for workers exposed to many different occupational hazards and subsequently at risk of a broad range of negative health outcomes.

The most important barriers to an effective surveillance system identified by our key informants included underreporting and under-participation (59% of key informants mentioned this barrier), funding (50% mentioned) and a lack of awareness of the risk (32% mentioned). Surveillance systems depend upon completeness (or near completeness) in order to be effective, so it is not surprising that the key informants identified this barrier. If underreporting occurs, the surveillance system may become biased, since proactive and better funded employers might be more likely to participate, for example. Funding is always a challenge in data collection and research, and is a particular challenge for surveillance because it is *by definition* ongoing; it cannot be wrapped up as a grant project in 2 or 4 years. The lack of awareness of risk is an interesting barrier; for diseases with long latencies (like skin cancer), this can be a particular challenge.

The most important facilitators for an effective surveillance system identified by our key informants included communication and collaboration (64% of key informants mentioned this facilitator), having a simple reporting process (23% mentioned) and long-term funding (23% mentioned). The purpose and importance of a proposed surveillance system should be understood by all parties who are required to ensure its success and this can only be achieved by open communication and a spirit of collaboration. Obtaining buy-in from key parties ahead of time will help to ensure the long-term success of a surveillance system. Having a simple reporting process is a key facilitator as it works to address some of the barriers (e.g. underreporting), and will especially be important in cases where physicians or other front-line health care workers are required to be a part of reporting. Funding was identified as a facilitator much as lack of funding was identified as a key barrier.

Key considerations in the design of an occupational surveillance program

During the telephone interviews the participants were asked some specific questions regarding their involvement in the design and implementation of an occupational surveillance program (<u>Appendix 7</u>). The answers provided highlight some key considerations that should be included in the design phase of an occupational surveillance program for outdoor workers in Alberta.

- 1) Have a clear purpose/goal
 - The question that is trying to be answered or the problem that is trying to be solved or measured needs to be clear.
- 2) Have a defined target population
 - Who or what population the surveillance program is focused on needs to be apparent. Is it all workers or a subgroup like outdoor workers?
- 3) Have stakeholder involvement
 - Which stakeholders need to be involved during the design and implementation of a surveillance program needs to be determined from the beginning. Having these stakeholders involved throughout the various phases of the program is important.
 - Important groups to consider (which may or may not be applicable depending on the answers to 1) and 2) above) are occupational physicians, OHS professionals, labour representatives, academics/scientists, data managers, employers, and

regulators.

- 4) Exposure vs disease monitoring
 - Whether the focus of the surveillance program is on exposure or disease (or both) needs to be clear.
 - A good first step that came out of our interviews would be to focus on ascertaining the numbers of outdoor workers affected by NMSC (disease monitoring).
- 5) Assess resources available
 - The available resources will determine the eventual robustness of the system being designed.
 - It is important to have funding available for a minimum of 10 years to enable development of a strong system.
- 6) Assess available data sources/how to capture data/how to analyze
 - How data will be collected needs to be clearly planned. Will existing data sources be used or will a new data capture process be implemented? How will the data be analyzed? How will it be stored long term and how can data security be maintained?
 - The first step would be assessing data holdings that would allow ascertainment of the numbers of NMSC occurring in outdoor workers. This could be done via physician billing data, via physician reporting, via a cancer registry (if data was tabulated there or could be going forward), or workers compensation data (perhaps less useful if workers are not making claims for NMSC cases).
- 7) Ensure that there is a pilot phase
 - A pilot phase will help determine how the system works, will identify any flaws, bugs or areas of concern.
 - It is important to continuously monitor and improve the system as inefficiencies are discovered or as new technologies become available. This will help to prevent the system from becoming obsolete over time.
- 8) Evaluate the program
 - Evaluation is a critical step to ensure that the program is working as designed and to determine what the data is telling us.
- 9) Disseminate results
 - Dissemination is another critical step to share results and learnings, and can inform the development of new and improved prevention programs, interventions, or policies.
- 10) Develop interventions, prevention programs, guide policy, continue to educate
 - The vitality of a surveillance system will depend upon how useful it is. It should be used to develop new products or programs that will help to reduce the occupational hazards experienced by outdoor workers and ultimately reduce the risk of NMSC (and perhaps other negative health outcomes).

Key recommendations for a NMSC surveillance program

The five consulted surveillance strategies (exposure registry, disease registry, disease screening/medical surveillance, sentinel event surveillance and disease surveillance via data linkage) could all likely be used for the surveillance of NMSC or sun exposure, however, there are strengths and limitations to all approaches. It is truly difficult to assess exactly how successful the individual strategy will be for NMSC/sun exposure since they have not been used specifically for NMSC/sun exposure. During the literature review and the key informant interviews one country does stand out above the rest when it

comes to the surveillance of NMSC/sun exposure. Germany is the most advanced in their surveillance of and recognition of NMSC as an OD and therefore can potentially be used as a model.

The system in Germany includes a mechanism to keep track of the incidences of NMSC in outdoor workers, includes a medical screening component for outdoor workers and integrates primary prevention strategies and education into their program. Since 2015 NMSC (including squamous cell carcinoma and multiple actinic keratoses) is recognized as an OD and notified to the Deutsche Gesetzliche Unfallsversicherung (DGUV) or German Social Accident Insurance [76]. After the first 12 months of official recognition, more than 7,700 occupational NMSC cases were registered with the DGUV [53]. In 2018, the number of notifications was over 9, 000 and it is expected that these numbers will continue to increase. In Germany, physicians are offered a financial incentive which helps to encourage physicians to report [53]. Patients who have been diagnosed with occupational skin cancer are provided priority medical care and, in severe cases, substantial compensation [53]. Since July 2019, Germany includes a medical screening program as part of their surveillance of outdoor workers. Employers have been mandated by the government to offer skin screening every three years to workers who work outside for more than 1 hour per day for 50 days per year. It is not compulsory for the employee to take part in the screening, but it is mandatory that the employer offers it. Employers must also offer protection measures to their workers if the workers are exposed to solar UVR (German dermatologist, personal communication, November 4, 2019).

Based on some of the work done in Germany we propose some steps that would help drive the design and implementation of a surveillance program that focuses on NMSC/sun exposure forward. These steps can be implemented over a number of years.

- 1. Recognize NMSC due to solar UVR as an occupational disease
 - Currently Germany recognizes multiple Actinic Keratosis (AK) and Squamous Cell Carcinoma (SCC) as ODs [76]. They have strong scientific evidence to link AK and SCC to solar UVR exposure during work [77]. They are currently working on research linking Basal Cell Carcinoma (BCC) to work related solar UVR exposure [78], but this is also now a scientifically accepted link and so BCC should be included in any system going forward.
- 2. Create a notification/collection mechanism for NMSC
 - Germany has a notification system in which physicians report occupational NMSC to the DGUV. In this way, they are able to keep track of incidence. Another possible way to do this could be via a cancer registry or physician billing data. It is important to include occupational information here.
 - For Canada, steps should be taken at the provincial level to improve notifications of skin cancers through both occupational services and public health programs [54].
 - Most provinces do not centralize the data on NMSC in any central repository, and it
 presumably lives primarily in physician billing data. Efforts should be taken to create
 systems to be able to count NMSCs over time.
- 3. Continue/build on/improve primary prevention initiatives
 - Canada has created some strong primary skin cancer prevention programs for outdoor workers including Sun Safety at Work Canada (<u>https://sunsafetyatwork.ca/</u>) and Be Sunsible from Alberta (<u>https://besunsible.healthiertogether.ca/</u>). These need
to be easily accessible to employers and employees, and maintained and updated as needed going forward.

- 4. Educate workers and employers on the risks of solar UVR
 - "Take steps to increase knowledge about the risk of AK and NMSC among occupational workers to empower and change behaviour among these groups, and ensure proper follow-up to detect and treat appropriately with the latest efficacious medicines available" [54].
 - "The development of smart, simple and accessible information platforms is warranted beyond leaflets and information campaigns, e.g. through social media, to improve health literacy among outdoor workers and the general population to drive change in behavior" [54].
- 5. Introduce a medical screening component
 - Employers can be encouraged to offer occupational skin cancer screening programs among the at-risk workforce
 - Employers can measure the levels of workers' exposure to UVR and to implement plans to prevent exposure exceeding the limit values
 - Eventually a mandate may be warranted to encourage employers to comply

Knowledge translation completed and in progress

We have created several knowledge products in relation to this sub-study, and have some more work planned that will continue post-project.

- 1. Webinar
 - We advertised and hosted a webinar on February 27, 2020 to share the results of both the measurements and the monitoring sub-study. Approximately 80 people attended the webinar, which had a lively Q&A period. A post-webinar survey was sent out which was filled out by 14 participants (a copy of the survey results is included in <u>Appendix 3</u>).
- 2. Scientific paper in preparation
 - We are drafting a paper containing the results of this sub-study to submit to the journal Safety and Health at Work. We expect to submit the paper by September 2020. The paper is titled "Sun exposure in outdoor workers: key considerations for an occupational surveillance system" and was authored by Nicole Slot, Lindsay Forsman-Phillips, Victoria Arrandale, Sunil Kalia, D. Linn Holness, Thomas Tenkate, and Cheryl Peters.
- 3. Abstract to be submitted: Canadian Association for Research on Work and Health (conference tentatively planned for June 2021 in St. John's Newfoundland)
 - This conference is scheduled to occur next June, and it appears it will be a virtual conference if an in-person meeting is not possible. We intend to present the results of this sub-study in either scenario.
- 4. Web presence: CAREX Canada website and Sun Safety at Work Canada
 - As soon as results are completely final (i.e. two primary results papers have gone through peer review), we will update the current project page (<u>https://www.carexcanada.ca/special-topics/sun-safety/</u>) as well as create a study page on the Sun Safety at Work Canada website (<u>https://sunsafetyatwork.ca/</u>). We are currently working with partners to develop visually-appealing content for this purpose. We anticipate this will go live in fall 2020.

Section 6: Overall conclusions

Our study demonstrated that sun exposure is a clear occupational hazard for outdoor workers in Alberta, and that there are few examples worldwide of jurisdictions who have surveillance systems in place to support the exposure and NMSC risk reduction in this vulnerable worker population. Programs have been developed in Canada over the years to help support employers in controlling exposure to solar UVR among their workers, but evaluation of these programs has been limited to date. This speaks very much to our finding from this study that sustained funding, data infrastructure, and clear communication and collaboration are vital to the tackling of occupational skin cancer prevention as well as the undertaking of occupational surveillance more broadly. Some key conclusions from each substudy are as follows:

For the UVR exposure sub-study:

Outdoor work places workers at considerable risk of solar UVR exposure over the international recommended exposure limit guideline in the summer months in Alberta. Almost half of the workers were exposed to levels that exceeded the international occupational exposure limit guideline. Exposure was highest among landscape and maintenance services, as well as trade and recreational workers, on mixed days, and when the dosimeters were placed on workers' hardhats. These findings will help inform future exposure monitoring studies in Alberta and elsewhere in Canada, as well as prevention initiatives that aim to reduce skin cancer risk among outdoor workers.

For the monitoring sub-study

Outdoor workers are exposed to numerous workplace hazards. Solar UVR is a substantial risk factor for outdoor workers and has often been underestimated if not neglected completely as an occupational risk. Due to high exposure that we demonstrated in the UVR exposure sub-study, we know that it is important that outdoor workers be monitored or surveilled to ensure that proper primary prevention strategies are in place to minimize the risk of developing NMSC, to ensure that disease is caught at an early stage and to ensure that incidences of NMSC in outdoor workers are tracked. This can be achieved via an occupational surveillance program that focuses on outdoor workers and NMSC. It should be additionally considered to include a variety of exposures of interest in such a surveillance system, or a broader group of health outcomes. These exposures may include other chemical exposures, pesticides (especially where co-exposure with the sun increases the risk of skin cancer), coal tar pitch, silica dust, and diesel engine exhaust (as pertinent to the industry). The health outcomes in addition to solar UVR could include other skin conditions, eye conditions, lung cancer, and hematopoietic cancers, for example.

Relevance to Alberta workers, workplaces, employers, and decision makers

The results of our study demonstrate a clear gap in our understanding of how outdoor workers are impacted by their solar UVR exposure. We found that exposure levels were both consistently too high and also varied dramatically, both within and between workers. This shows that more sampling for solar UVR needs to happen in Alberta workplaces, especially given that the summer of 2019 (when sampling occurred) was a relatively cloudy and rainy summer – other more typically sunny Alberta summers would inevitably lead to exposure levels that are even higher than what we found. This is of key interest to workers and workplaces in Alberta who could be the target audience for educational campaigns to understand the risk that their high sun exposure poses to them and their future health. It is also of key interest for employers; tools exist to support employers in helping to control solar UVR exposure among their workers. On the level of decision-makers, there are a few key takeaways: 1) exposure to the sun is occurring at levels that are likely increasing the risk of skin cancer in outdoor workers in Alberta; 2) there is no surveillance of exposure to the sun nor the occurrence of skin cancer among Alberta's outdoor

workers; and 3) there are a variety of tools available to reduce workers' exposure to the sun, and/or to set up a surveillance system to monitor their exposures and/or health outcomes in the long term.

Recommendations for future research

- 1. Additional UVR sampling campaigns should be undertaken in subsequent summers in Alberta as well as in different areas in Canada and among different groups of workers in order to gain a more fulsome understanding of the levels of exposure experienced across more work settings, and also to characterize the variability experienced both within and between workers. If we add to the growing database of solar UVR measurements, we could more accurately characterize exposure by job title and use this information to infer exposure in situations where measurements are not feasible.
- 2. Systems should be designed and created to better track incident NMSC in Alberta and elsewhere in Canada. Currently, we only have an *estimate* of the yearly incidence of NMSC in Canada because most provinces do not routinely amalgamate this information from billing data and other sources that may exist. If we are to tackle the issue of occupational skin cancer prevention, we require solid data in order to benchmark our health outcomes to evaluate our programs in the future.
- 3. Outdoor work carries with it a somewhat unique set of challenges, and we found that exposures occurring in outdoor workers have not typically been considered together. We would recommend that future research address the issue of other occupational health hazards experienced by outdoor workers, including solar UVR exposure, but expanding into other co-exposures experienced by this group.

Section 7 Appendices					
7.1 Appendix 1: Questionnaire used in UV radiation exposure monitoring piece					
Date:			FOR RESEARCHER USE ONLY		
	Day Month Year	Dosimeter ID / Sample #:	Location ID:		

Alberta Outdoor Workers Project Questionnaire

This questionnaire has 4 sections. In **Section 1**, we will gather information on your sun habits, both when you are at work and on your leisure time. **Section 2** asks questions about personal characteristics that may be associated with skin cancer risk, such as skin and hair colour. **Section 3** will gather information on your job, and **Section 4** asks some demographic questions. All information provided to us is confidential and will not be released to another party without permission. If there are any questions that you are not comfortable answering, you do not have to answer them.

For each question listed, please select the **one answer** that is the best response to the question. Fill in each circle or mark with a tick. ✓ Return completed surveys to **Brandon Leong (403.476.2490), or email them to me at Brandon.leong@ahs.ca**). You can also speak to Brandon on site if you need clarification on any of the questions.

Section 1: Sun Habits

1. In the summer, on average, how many hours are you outside per day between 10 AM and 4 PM., on days <u>when you are AT WORK?</u>

1 hour or lessO	
2 hoursO	
3 hoursO	
4 hoursO	
5 hoursO	
6 hoursO	

2. In the summer, on average, how many hours are you outside per day between 10 AM and 4 PM.. on days <u>when you are NOT AT WORK?</u>

1 hour or lessO
2 hoursO
3 hoursO
4 hoursO
5 hoursO
6 hoursO

3.

How often do you spend time in the sun in order to get a tan?						
	NEVER	RARELY	SOMETIMES	OFTEN	ALWAYS	
	0	0	0	0	0	

4. How many times LAST SUMMER did you have a red OR painful sunburn that lasted a day or more? (Circle one response)

0 1 2 3 4 5+

For the following questions, think about what you do when you are outside <u>AT WORK during the</u> <u>summer on a warm sunny day.</u>

	NEVER	RARELY	SOMETIMES	OFTEN	ALWAYS
5. How often do you wear SUNSCREEN?	0	0	Ο	0	0
6. How often do you wear a SHIRT WITH					
SLEEVES that cover your shoulders?	0	Ο	Ο	0	0
7. How often do you wear a HAT?	0	Ο	Ο	0	0
8. How often do you stay in the SHADE or					
UNDER AN UMBRELLA?	0	Ο	Ο	0	0
9. How often do you wear SUNGLASSES?	0	0	Ο	0	0

For the following questions, think about what you do when you are outside <u>and NOT AT WORK during</u> the summer on a warm sunny day.

NEVER	RARELY	SOMETIMES	OFTEN	ALWAYS
0	0	0	0	Ο
0	0	Ο	Ο	Ο
0	0	Ο	Ο	Ο
0	0	Ο	Ο	Ο
0	0	Ο	0	Ο
	0 0 0 0			$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Section 2: Personal characteristics

15. What is your natural ł Red or light blonde O	nair colour? If gre Blonde O	•	vas it before it t r light brown O		Black O
16. What are the colour o	of your eyes?				
Light blue, light grey, or	Blue, grey,	Hazel or			
light green o	or green	light brown	Dark brown	Brown	ish black
О	0		0	Ο	О
17. Which of the following skin colours best characterize you?: Skin colour is light, pale white (Always burns, never tans)					
Skin colour is fair (Usually burns, ta	ns with difficulty)		0
Skin colour is white to olive (<i>Sometimes develops a mild burn, gradually tan</i>)O					
Skin colour is olive to moderate brown (<i>Rarely burns, tans with ease</i>)					
Skin colour is brown to dark brown (<i>Very rarely burns, tans very easily</i>)					
Skin colour is very	dark brown to b	lack (Never burn	s, tans very easi	ly)	0

		0	No C	u rn? (i.e. painful and/) Yes	
		1.1 h			
э. наve уо с No	U ever been to O Yes	old by your docto O Don't knov	-	ve skin cancer? hat type? (e.g. melano	ma squamous cell
-		e blank if unknow	,		
-	one in your IM ve skin cancer?	-	(mother, fatl	ner, sister, brother, ch	ild) been told by a doctor th
No	O Yes	O Don't knc	w If YES , w	hat type? (e.g. melano	ma, squamous cell,
asal cell car	rcinoma. Leave	e blank if unknow	vn.)		
21. Do y	ou have a skin	condition that v	vorsens with	sunlight exposure?	
No	O Yes	O Don't kno	w If YES, wl	nat type (e.g. photoser	nsitivity, 'allergy')?
aa 11			-		
22. Have	e you ever wor O Yes	ked with creoso		or approximately how r	many years?
NO	Oles			approximately now i	nany years:
		Soct	ion 2. Joh	information	
		360	.001 3. 100	intormation	
		ENT job title or t	trade?	lding" or "operating a	n excavator")
		ENT job title or t	trade?		n excavator")
		ENT job title or t	trade?		n excavator")
	t are your mai	ENT job title or f	trade? example "we		n excavator")
	t are your mai	ENT job title or f	trade? example "we	lding" or "operating a	n excavator")
24. What	t are your mai long have you ld you describ	ENT job title or t n job tasks? (for u been working in e your typical Cl	example "we n your CURRE	lding" or "operating a NT job or trade? years rade schedule as:	
24. What	t are your mai long have you ld you describ	ENT job title or t n job tasks? (for u been working in e your typical Cl	example "we	lding" or "operating a NT job or trade? years rade schedule as:	
24. What 25. How 26. Wou	t are your mai long have you ld you describ <30 hou O	ENT job title or t n job tasks? (for u been working in e your typical Cl	example "we example "we n your CURRE JRRENT job/t -40 hours/we	elding" or "operating a NT job or trade? years rade schedule as: ek 40-50 hours/we O	ek >50 hours/week

28. If you answered NO to question #27, what has been your USUAL occupation or job -- the one you have worked at the longest?

Job title _____

Number of years employed in this LONGEST (or usual) occupation _____

Main job tasks at your LONGEST job (i.e. waiting tables, installing cabinets, pouring concrete)

of hours in SUMMER spent outside between 10am and 4pm at your LONGEST job:

Section 4: Background Information					
29. Your s	29. Your sex:				
O Male	O Female				
30. Date o	of birth: / / / / Day Month Year				
31. Racial O Caucasian/	l /ethnic background: (Fill in <u>one</u> best choice) White O Asian				
O Black	O Other				
O Hispanic					
32. What	is the highest certificate, diploma or degree that you have completed?				
${\rm O}$ Less than h	igh school diploma or its equivalent (i.e. GED)				
O High schoo	l diploma or its equivalent				
O Some colle	ge, trade school, or university				
O Completed	college, trade school or university degree				

33. Your name: _____

34. Your email (optional, if you would like a copy of your results): ______

You have reached the end of the questionnaire.

Please be sure to return your complete questionnaire to Brandon (403.650.8881) or email him at Brandon.Leong@ahs.ca

Thank you very much for participating!

7.2 Appendix 2: Worked example from UVR exposure model

Models were performed on log-transformed data; consequently, the results must be exponentiated to obtain interpretable estimates. For an example of how to transform the model findings into estimates, consider equation (4).

(4)

 $In-SED_{day} = 0.261$ (hours outside)

- + β₂ (education)
- + β_3 (hair colour)
- + β_4 (trade)
- + β₅ (city/region)
- + β_6 (dosimeter placement)
- + β_7 (forecast)
- 1.29

Hypothetically, if a trade worker in Edmonton mounted the dosimeter on their hardhat, had a high school education, had red hair, and worked for 5 hours on a sunny day, then:

 $In-SED_{day} =$

```
0.26 (hours outside) +
           + [0.29 (high school or less=1) - 0.14 (some college=0) + 0 (completed college=0)]
           + [-0.07 (dark brown/black=0) + 0.33 (red/blonde=1) + 0 (dark blonde/light brown=0)
           + [-0.03 (landscape/maintenance services=0) - 0.54 (professional services=0)
              0.18 (recreational worker=0) - 0.97 (security worker=0) + 0 (trade worker=1)]
           + [0.12 (Edmonton=1) + 0.65 (other=0) + 0 (Calgary=0)]
           + [0.47 (hardhat=1) + 0 (lapel/watch)]
           + [-0.747 (cloudy=0) + 0.027 (mixed=0) + 0 (sunny=1)
           - 1.29
In-SED_{day} =
                0.26(5) +
                + 0.29 (high school=1)
                + 0.33 (red hair=1)
                + 0 (trade worker=1)
                + 0.12 (Edmonton=1)
                + 0.47 (hardhat=1)
                +0 (sunny=1)
                -1.29
                1.3 + 0.29 + 0.33 + 0 + 0.12 + 0.47 + 0 - 1.29
          =
                1.22
          =
SED_{day} = exp(1.22)
        = 3.39 SED
```

This hypothetical trade worker would expect to receive 3.39 SED, given the stipulated conditions on this hypothetical day.

The general relationship between the variable and SED values can be assessed using the sign of the beta values. For example, a negative beta coefficient means that the variable will contribute to lower SED values. Statistically speaking, being a security worker and working on cloudy day may lead to lower SED measurements compared to trade workers and sunny days, respectively, while a larger number of hours worked outdoors contributes to higher SED values.

7.3 Appendix 3: Post-webinar survey results

Please refer to the PDF "Post-Webinar survey results." It has been submitted separately.

7.4 Appendix 4: Table of surveillance practices

Please refer to the PDF "Table of surveillance practices". It has been submitted separately.

7.5 Appendix 5: Interview questions/questionnaire

Sun exposure in outdoor workers - Key informant interviews

We will interview approximately 20-25 key informants from government agencies, worker advocacy groups, nongovernment organizations, and Canadian or international researchers with expertise in occupational health and skin cancer prevention.

The interviews will focus on the following domains:

- Verification that our scan of best practices for occupational exposure/health surveillance is complete and that key inputs have not been missed
- Best practices for design and implementation of a surveillance system for outdoor workers
- Barriers and facilitators to creating, managing, and ensuring the ongoing success of an occupational surveillance system for outdoor workers

Questions will include:

Key informant information

- 1. Do you consent to participating in this interview on surveillance systems for outdoor workers? Do you consent to an audio recording of this interview for transcription and data analysis purposes?
- 2. What organization do you work with and what is your jurisdiction?
- 3. What is your primary role?
- 4. How does your work relate to skin cancer prevention and/or occupational health of outdoor workers? a. What work have you done in this area?

Design and Implementation of a surveillance program

5. Have you been involved in designing or implementing an occupational exposure or health surveillance program?

a. If yes what were the motivations behind developing the surveillance program?

b. Who was involved in the development of the surveillance program (i.e. government, multi sectoral, research)?

c. What exposures are included in the surveillance program? How was the exposure or exposures assessed and added to the surveillance program?

d. Is there policy developed that supports or requires the surveillance program?

e. How was the surveillance program implemented and designed, (i.e. what steps were taken in the development and implementation of the program)?

f. Is sun exposure included in the surveillance program?

g. What data sources were used to develop, and maintain the surveillance program (voluntary, insurance, enforcement, health)?

h. What tools are used to evaluate the effectiveness of the surveillance program?

i. How are the results disseminated or circulated?

Barriers and facilitators

6. Based on your experiences, what are some of the barriers or challenges to developing and implementing an effective (sun exposure/skin cancer) surveillance program (for outdoor workers specifically)? Do you have any thoughts on how these can be overcome?

7. What are the facilitators or what would support the development or implementation of a successful (sun exposure/skin cancer) surveillance program (for outdoor workers)?

8. Do you have any lessons learned from your experience with developing or implementing a (sun exposure/skin cancer) surveillance program (for outdoor workers) that you could share with us?

Best practices for an occupational exposure/health surveillance program

9. Please refer to the results of our environmental scan of best practices for designing and implementing an occupational exposure/health surveillance program. Are there any other examples of best practices that could be included here?

10. Is our appraisal of the individual practices accurate? a. Are you aware of any additional evidence to indicate which of these approaches should be deemed best practice?

Summary/end of interview

11. Can you suggest anyone else with whom we should speak to as part of this research project?

12. Can I contact you again if I need to clarify anything in this interview?

Thank you for your time

7.6 Appendix 6: Surveillance strategies

Five surveillance strategies are described below. These particular strategies appear most often in the Table of Surveillance Practices and they have potential to be applied to a system for outdoor workers.

Exposure Registry:

The Table of Surveillance Practices includes 16 articles or reports that focus on the use of an exposure registry for occupational surveillance [18, 19, 79-92]. Exposure registries are designed to collect information about workers exposed to a specific occupational risk or risks and can be used to assist in compensation related decisions, as a reason for disease screening, to carry out exposure surveillance, or to help identify new exposure-disease relationships [19]. An exposure registry enrolls workers into a system that collects various types of information including demographic, employment, and exposure information. The goals of an exposure registry can differ depending on the reason it was created in the first place: an exposure registry can gather information about the exposure history of an individual worker for purposes of future decision making about compensation; the information on an individual worker's exposure history can be used to administer a disease screening program for individual workers; the information can be used for exposure surveillance in a population of workers with the goal of reducing exposures and preventing the development of diseases; or the information on exposure in a population of workers can be used as a basis for health surveillance with the goal of identifying new exposure-disease relationships [19]. The information collected in an exposure registry may give the opportunity for primary prevention through the elimination or reduction of the exposure and it can also be used for secondary prevention via disease screening of high exposure groups [19].

Since 2012 WorkSafeBC implemented an online exposure registry program. Workers, employers, and others have been able to enroll and permanently record on-the-job exposures to harmful substances. The main exposures included are asbestos, formaldehyde, head lice, hepatitis, HIV, isocyanates, lead, meningitis, mercury, mould, noise, scabies, shingles, silica, thallium, tuberculosis, wood dust or other (WorkSafeBC, personal communication, October 16, 2019). Since many occupational diseases develop after a prolonged exposure or after a long latency period the information in the registry can be useful for a future diagnosis, as proof for a work related cause of disease, and for claims decisions. The registry can be helpful to guide prevention efforts by providing data that can be used to monitor industry trends and raise the awareness on how harmful exposures can be linked to occupational disease [63]. In the past year WorkSafeBC has had about 700 submissions to the registry and this continues to increase as workers and employers become more aware of the registry and how to use it (WorkSafeBC, personal communication, October 16, 2019).

An exposure registry may be a strategy to monitor outdoor workers and their exposures. It could be designed to keep track of the exposure history of an outdoor worker. For example if a worker spends most of the workday outdoors and is exposed to prolonged solar UVR this could be registered for purposes of future compensation claims or for a future diagnosis. If an exposure limit for solar UVR is defined and a worker exceeds this limit a disease screening program could be administered to diagnose solar related disease at an early stage. As with the WorkSafeBC registry the employee or employer could register exposures that are not only limited to solar UVR, but could include excessive heat or cold, respiratory exposures, exposure to infectious agents, exposure to parasites (i.e. ticks). A central registry can be set up to keep track of the submissions. This can be done via a simple online form for registration. It is also possible that the employer sets up a registry for employees if they are exposed to specific risks on the job. At the end of the year the employer could submit this information to a central registry. If it is determined that certain groups have high exposure to certain risks for example solar UVR, disease screening could be implemented to ensure that there are no early signs of skin cancer. In BC it did not take very long to create their exposure registry and this registry could be used as an

example for Alberta. An exposure registry can include numerous exposures not only those experienced by outdoor workers, so it has the potential to be extended to all workers and exposures.

Disease Registry:

The Table of Surveillance Practices includes 17 articles or reports that discuss the use of occupational disease registries for surveillance [20, 58, 64, 67, 88, 93-104]. Disease registries are similar to exposure registries, but only include workers who have been diagnosed with a specific disease (for example skin cancer, dermatitis or mesothelioma). Most often registrations are done on a voluntary basis and by physicians. Because of the voluntary nature of this type of registry there can be substantial underreporting of the disease and this is certainly a limitation to this method of surveillance [67]. The disease registry can be designed to also collect exposure information, however, this is typically done after the fact and could cause a recall bias [19]. Disease registries are quite common in Europe, though they have been used in Australia (e.g. SABRE for respiratory disease) [98, 101] as well. Canada has done some studies looking into this method [102, 103]. One study focused on the Ontario Work Related Asthma Surveillance System (OWRAS) and the other on a physician based surveillance system of occupational respiratory diseases (PROPULSE) in Quebec. Both studies determined that it is feasible to implement a voluntary reporting system, but physician participation is often low and this method should be used as a supplement to other data sources [102] or with other surveillance methods.

The UK's Occupational Skin Surveillance (EPIDERM) is an example of a disease-based registry [65]. EPIDERM is part of The Health and Occupation Reporting network (THOR) in the UK and it has been in place since 1993. In EPIDERM consultant dermatologists voluntarily report cases of occupational skin disease to a central unit that compiles the data and undertakes analysis. Information about diagnosis, primary site of diagnosis, job title, industry, causal exposures (as reported by the physician), as well as date of first exposure is collected by the Centre for Occupational and Environmental Health in Manchester (COEH, personal communication, September 26, 2019). Currently about 150 consultant dermatologists report to EPIDERM. There are about 20 core reporters who report every month to the registry and the rest of the dermatologists are sample reporters who are sampled at random and report for one month only each year (COEH, personal communication, September 26, 2019). The major category of cases reported consists of contact dermatitis, followed by neoplasia (cancers) [65].

A downside of EPIDERM or disease registries are their voluntary nature and the underreporting that often occurs as a result. It is difficult to know exactly how many cases are being missed and how representative the captured cases are of the larger population [19]. Underreporting is likely to be an issue for THOR [20], and some factors that contribute to underreporting include under-recognition (i.e. the condition/disease is not linked to work), under-participation by physicians due to workload, the physician's level of training in occupational diseases [64] and perhaps the employee not wanting the work related nature of the disease recognized [67]. Disease-based registries are limited in their ability to address trends through surveillance or epidemiology if a large portion of the population is missing from the registry. "Disease registries are also less useful for purposes of prevention than exposure registries since workers will already have developed the disease before they register. Disease registries can, however, help contribute to the secondary prevention of those diseases for which medical strategies exist that can slow or even reverse the progression" [19].

A disease registry could be used for outdoor workers in that it could collect information about specific occupational diseases that this group of workers are diagnosed with. Though if this method were used, it would likely have to focus on one type of disease as opposed to all the possible occupational diseases that an outdoor worker may be diagnosed with. A similar system to EPIDERM could be developed in which dermatologists report incidences of occupational NMSC to a registry. This may be a way to

ascertain the actual numbers of occupational NMSC, however, it may be difficult to get already busy dermatologists on board to do this type of reporting. Therefore, there could be substantial underreporting as with EPIDERM and this may be difficult to overcome. One way to perhaps minimize the underreporting is to put some sort of legislation in place so that physicians are more likely to report, however, this may not solve the problem as some countries do have legislation in place and underreporting still exists. Another way to minimize underreporting is to offer physicians incentives to report. This has been a successful approach in Germany.

Disease screening/medical surveillance:

The Table of Surveillance Practices includes 6 articles or reports that discuss the use of disease screening/medical surveillance as a strategy for surveillance [69, 71, 105-108]. Disease screening or medical surveillance monitors the occurrence of a specific disease or diseases within a defined population. Typically disease screening is mandated by a regulatory body. The screening is conducted to determine whether a worker has had excessive exposure to a specific agent [68] and whether there are early signs of work related disease [71]. The screening allows for the possibility of early diagnosis and treatment and ultimately reduces the chances of the disease worsening or that a worker dies from the disease [68]. These tests are normally administered to workers who are considered healthy [71]. This type of screening is really only effective for diseases for which early detection is beneficial. A medical surveillance program on the other hand takes place over a longer period of time with recurrent examinations and data analysis [71] and includes a wider range of activities [68].

An example of a medical surveillance system is the Coal Workers' Health Surveillance Program (CWHSP) of the U. S. National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH). In 1969 the CWHSP was established by the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969 to prevent early coal workers' pneumoconiosis or black lung from progressing to a disabling disease. This act as well as the Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA) rule for respirable coal mine dust require that periodic chest x-rays, periodic lung function testing (called spirometry), respiratory health assessment questionnaires, and extended health surveillance are offered to surface, underground, and contract coal miners [70]. The Coal Mine Health and Safety Act mandates that NIOSH and the MSHA operate the CWHSP, therefore it is mandatory for the program to be offered but it is voluntary for the miners to participate. "The first X-ray upon entry into the coal mining industry is mandatory. And then depending upon that result, another two x-rays may be mandatory within the first five years but beyond that, it is all voluntary" (CWHSP, personal communication, December 4, 2019). The disease screening component of the program includes a chest x-ray for all underground coal miners and since 2014 all surface coal miners, as well since 2014 includes spirometry testing and a respiratory assessment for all coal miners [109]. As part of this program, new coal miners must be offered by their employer chest x-rays as well as spirometry testing and a respiratory assessment at specific times: (1) within 30 days of commencement of employment in an underground or surface coal mine, (2) three years following the initial x-ray/spirometry/respiratory assessment and if the worker is still working in a coal mine; (3) two years following the second xray/spirometry/respiratory assessment, if the second examination showed any evidence of pneumoconiosis and if the worker is still working in a coal mine; and, (4) every five years thereafter [109]. NIOSH notifies the miners of the results and if anything abnormal is found, the coal miner will be advised to follow up with their physician or contact one of the government-supported Black Lung Clinics [109]. The results of these tests are collected and analyzed by NIOSH and it allows researchers to identify trends in disease progression across the nation [110]. This program is voluntary and this is a drawback [19]. "In a given year it's about/it fluctuates between 25 and 40% of the industry is participating when they're eligible. Right now it's about 35%. And it's very region dependent. So out west we have really high participation in some of the states, you know, upwards of 50 to 70%. And in

central Appalachia, the percentages are below 20" (CWHSP, personal communication, December 4, 2019). The reasons for the under-participation include fear of discrimination, fear of job loss, the screenings are not easily accessible/scheduling issues, fear that confidential test results will be shared with the employer, fear of finding out they are ill. To combat the under-participation in the program it has been suggested that all screening become mandatory. Also the Enhanced Coal Workers Health Surveillance Program (ECWHSP) has been implemented to try to help increase participation. The ECWHSP uses a mobile testing unit and it travels to convenient locations to offer the screening tests to both current and past coal miners [110].

Medical screening/surveillance could be used for outdoor workers particularly if the workers are regularly exposed to a significant amount of solar UVR. As with the CWHSP it is possible for workers to have an initial screening to examine the skin for problems or to determine whether they have skin that may be at risk for skin cancer. Screening could be conducted every few years. An example of a country that has included medical screening for outdoor workers is Germany. In July 2019 Germany added a medical screening component to their surveillance of outdoor workers (German dermatologist, personal communication, November 4, 2019). Employers have been mandated by the government to offer skin screening every three years to workers who work outside for more than 1 hour per day for 50 days per year (German dermatologist, personal communication, November 4, 2019). It is not compulsory for the employee to take part in the screening, but it is mandatory that the employer offers it (German dermatologist, personal communication, November 4, 2019). Also employers now must offer protection measures for their workers if the workers are exposed to solar UVR.

Alberta could adopt a screening program for outdoor workers similar to the German model. However, before a screening program can be implemented a clear definition of what an outdoor worker is needs to be established. It would also be helpful to recognize NMSC due to solar UVR as an official OD, to have clear criteria about who would be included in the screening program and perhaps to create an occupational exposure limit for solar UVR. It would be important to include clear scientific evidence to prove why NMSC is included as OD.

Sentinel Event Surveillance:

The Table of Surveillance Practices includes 17 articles or reports that describe sentinel event surveillance [64, 67, 72, 73, 97, 99, 100, 111-120]. A Sentinel Health Event (SHE-Occupational) is a "disease, disability, or untimely death which is occupationally related and whose occurrence may: 1) provide the impetus for epidemiologic or industrial hygiene studies; or 2) serve as a warning signal that materials substitution, engineering control, personal protection, or medical care may be required" [72]. The goal of sentinel surveillance systems is to increase case reporting, identify the risk factors involved and high-risk work sites and then ultimately link preventive interventions to work sites and the broader community [120].

Recently the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA) looked at various sentinel surveillance systems in Europe and how they identify emerging work-related health problems and diseases [117]. In most of these systems ODs are typically reported to a central registry and some of these registries are compensation-based while others are not [64]. Many of these registries rely on physicians to report occupational diseases and often the physicians are legally obligated to report a suspected case of OD [64]. Sometimes individuals or even employers can register an OD. It has been noted in the literature that ODs are very often underreported in these systems, but the extent of the underreporting is not clear [64]. The reasons for underreporting to these registries are similar to the underreporting to disease registries and include: difficulties identifying whether the origin of the occupational disease is truly work related (due to the long latency of the disease or due to exposure

factors outside of work), physicians not having the knowledge to recognize or diagnose an OD, and also the workers themselves not wanting the disease recognized as work-related [67].

The Norwegian Labor Inspectorate Registry for Work-Related disease (RAS) is an example of a sentinel surveillance scheme. It was designed with the principle of the sentinel health event (SHE) in mind [73]. Since 1977 it is mandatory for physicians to report all suspected and confirmed cases of work-related diseases to the Norwegian Labour Inspectorate (NLI). The main reasoning behind the mandatory reporting is to reduce exposure and eliminate risks with the goal of preventing the progression of disease for the individual case and of preventing the onset of disease to the NLI, the reported cases are evaluated by the NLI physicians, and the report is entered into an electronic database, the report is then sent to the regional NLI offices and they are responsible for deciding whether the case will be investigated further or an intervention put in place [73]. In many sentinel event systems, the initial reporting of the case is mandatory in principle but not necessarily in practice (RAS, personal communication, November 1, 2019). Underreporting is definitely a problem and in Norway only 3 % (n =561) of the approximately 18,000 registered Norwegian physicians reported to the NLI in 2006 [73].

For a sentinel surveillance system to be created in Alberta a central registry would have to be designed and implemented. Often these registries are linked with workers compensation institutions, so this is a potential option for Alberta. Typically these types of registries would include more than just NMSC, so if modelled on the European examples it would be set up to capture all instances of occupational disease. As the scope of these systems is rather large it may be complex to design and implement and therefore may be an expensive undertaking. Also it would be of utmost importance to consider how to minimize underreporting, so that the surveillance results are not affected by this issue.

Disease Surveillance via data linkage:

The Table of Surveillance Practices includes 15 articles or reports that give a description of how data or record linkage can be used as a method to conduct occupational disease surveillance [48, 49, 62, 74, 97, 102, 121-129]. The key premise of this method is that various data sources are linked to estimate the extent and distribution of occupational disease [48]. In this method large datasets are used and they generally include information on a person's occupation or industry of employment [62]. Identifying information such as name, date of birth and provincial health number can then be linked to various health databases to see whether a particular individual is diagnosed with a disease at some point [62]. This method has been used for occupational disease surveillance and has linked data on individuals with accepted workers compensation and administrative health data (e.g. cancer registry, physician billing data, hospital discharge data) [62].

Ontario recently developed the Occupational Disease Surveillance System (ODSS) and it was developed because there was no existing occupational surveillance system in Ontario that could identify high risk populations and target prevention efforts [74]. It was developed using the method of data linkage: "This system was created in 2016 by linking existing provincial health databases with job information in order to study occupational disease and inform prevention activities. The ODSS identifies at-risk groups of workers, and potential hazardous exposures, within the workplace. Findings from the ODSS contribute to our understanding of occupational disease in Ontario, and can support changes to public health practice" [75]. The ODSS links the following data sources: 1) Workplace Safety and Insurance Board's (WSIB) Time-Loss Claims Database, 2) RPDB – Registered Persons Database, 3) OCR – Ontario Cancer Registry, 4) Ontario Health Insurance Plan (OHIP) eClaims Database, 5) NACRS – National Ambulatory Care Reporting System, 6) DAD – Discharge Abstract Database [74]. "The ODSS is currently being used to examine associations between occupation and industry and 28 cancer sites and 9 non-malignant health

outcomes" [74]. A strength of this type of system is that it provides reliable occupational information. However, there are limitations as well: the system only includes individuals who have actually submitted a workers compensation claim and the occupational information is only available at the time the claim is submitted (ODSS, personal communication, November 14, 2019). If an individual changes jobs at some point this would not be taken into account [62].

It is possible to design a similar system to the ODSS in Alberta. Compensation claims to the WCB-AB could be used to create the cohort group. However, if there is a focus on NMSC the challenge would be finding a NMSC data source to link with the cohort. It may be possible to use physician billing data for NMSC (basal and squamous cell carcinoma), however, the physician billing data may not specify exactly what type of skin cancer has been diagnosed. In Ontario NMSC is lumped together under one code, so it would need to be determined whether this is the case in Alberta. Actinic keratosis is coded under other skin diseases, therefore, it would be difficult to include this skin disease in the system. Also currently most Canadian cancer registries do not register incidences of NMSC, therefore a potential occupational surveillance system for NMSC would not be able to link to this data source. It may be worthwhile to investigate whether it would be possible to add NMSC to the cancer registry in Alberta, so that it could be used as a data source. Preliminary research would need to be undertaken to determine exactly which data sources are available with regards to NMSC and whether it would produce the desired surveillance goal.

7.7 Appendix 7: Key informant interview analysis

What are the perceived barriers to developing and implementing an effective occupational surveillance program?

The interviewees identified five key challenges/barriers to the development and implementation of an effective occupational surveillance program: Underreporting/under-participation (due to long latency of disease/difficulty linking disease to work/lack of physician knowledge), funding/competing resources, lack of awareness of risk (workers/employers don't care), mandatory vs voluntary participation or disease legislation, lack of a collection mechanism (cancer registry). Other barriers identified were in regards to cost of preventive measures, lack of an OEL, NMSC not recognized as OD.

- 1. Underreporting/under-participation: Thirteen of the interviewees (59%) mentioned that the underreporting of occupational disease or work related disease as a challenge to the development or implementation of an effective occupational surveillance program. "There is huge underreporting and as you probably know actually that we've been working on this project and on this problem with WHO since 2011". 12 interviewees (55%) noted specifically that occupational diseases are often not reported by physicians due to the long latency of the disease and the difficulty linking the occupational disease to work activities. "More than anything else, the biggest problem is making the link between occupation and health." Physician's lack of knowledge or understanding of occupational diseases also make it difficult to make the link between disease and work. The long latency often means the worker is retired by the time they are diagnosed with an OD, so they or the physician may not be looking at previous job history and how it may relate to the current diagnosis. One participant mentioned that offering incentives to physicians could help counteract underreporting. Also better physician education on topics related to occupational disease may minimize the underreporting.
- 2. Funding/competing resources: Eleven of the participants (50%) mentioned that funding or competing resources are a challenge when designing, implementing and maintaining a surveillance program. "A big one is resourcing/getting the funds/the committed funds/the long term funds to be able to sustain a proper surveillance program." Without proper funding these programs cannot exist. "Funding is or can be a barrier to creating these surveillance programs. If there's no funding, then it's difficult to move forward or if it's, it moves forward on a research grant, there's no guarantee that the funding will continue." Often when government funding is reduced there is a risk that surveillance programs are affected negatively. In the UK the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) reduced funding in the last few years and currently the Center for Occupational and Environmental Health (COEH) only receives enough funding from the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) for the skin and respiratory surveillance schemes (COEH, personal communication, September 26, 2019). It is important that funding sources are available and consistent to maintain this type of work. "Locking in resourcing, and locking in for surveillance programs my own belief is that you need fairly a long term commitment for these things. They can't be set up as a year by year proposition because you just you really just can't deliver a surveillance program." If a program is legislated or if there is policy associated with it, it may have more success in the long run. One participant mentioned that it is important to keep the topic of occupational diseases in the public eye, so that there is more buy in and perhaps associated pressure to keep the programs running.
- 3. Lack of awareness of risk: Seven of the interviewed individuals (32%) flagged the lack of awareness of occupational risk or perhaps the lack of understanding of the risk of solar UVR or of occupational risk. "And maybe one of the barriers I think it might be also intrinsic interest for outdoor workers, whether they are really concerned about the problem. And this is something that they say that

outdoor workers are usually workers who really that they don't care that much." This points to the fact that the employees are not well educated about the risks they face at work and it would be beneficial to ensure that the employees as well as employers are educated on this topic. Better education about occupational risk and how to minimize it would likely lead to employees making the choice to better protect themselves and perhaps be more interested in participating in surveillance projects. Worker/employer apathy can also be a negative influence: "One is apathy. Just getting people interested and committed to doing it." This apathy needs to be addressed and one way to do this is through education or outreach.

- 4. Mandatory vs voluntary participation/disease inclusion: Five of the interviewees (23%) mentioned that it may be beneficial for a program to be mandatory as opposed to voluntary. "It's mandatory for it to exist and for the operators to provide the opportunity or the, you know the information about it, but it's not mandatory for the miners to participate. It is/I will say the first X-ray upon entry into the coal mining industry is mandatory. And then depending upon that result, another two x-rays may be mandatory within the first five years but beyond that, it is all voluntary." There are underlying reasons why employees may choose not to participate in a surveillance program and they include: fear of job loss, fear of discrimination, it is not convenient, fear it is not confidential, fear of finding out they are ill. "I think that having, so from what we saw in that review of exposure registries as an example, certainly the registries that were mandatory, you know, if they were mandatory, and they were legislated, then people I think were more likely to participate. But also, that usually meant that there was some sort of structure or financial backing towards maintaining the system and ensuring that it continued on and I'm thinking of things like the National Dose Registry. That's run at the federal level. So I do think from a participation standpoint, and an operational standpoint, that having policy, ideally sort of legislation behind it is going to make it more likely to be successful in the long run." A surveillance program is more likely to succeed if there is policy/legislation behind it or it is mandated. "Just to kind of back up a bit, I think one of our challenges too in Nova Scotia is that we don't have legislation around UV exposure, and you can interpret, you know, UV as a hazard, but it's not specifically laid out. So I do think that is a challenge for making it a priority within workplaces." Perhaps more workers or employers would take solar UVR exposure more serious with some type of legislation to back it up.
- 5. Lack of a collection mechanism: Five of the participants (23%) mentioned the lack of a collection mechanism for NMSC as a perceived barrier. In many countries NMSC is not registered in their cancer registries, therefore it is difficult to ascertain the actual numbers of NMSC among the general public as well as outdoor workers. An alternate collection mechanism may need to be implemented and this can be difficult to do. "So, I would say if we start at the beginning of the continuum, it's, it could be data collection related. So there may be no current mechanisms to collect that information. And so one of the barriers we're facing right now is when we think about non-melanoma. And so we/there is no current mechanism within Alberta. You know, to, to our knowledge, where that is actually being done and so for that work to happen, we need to create like a whole new initiative." Some argue that NMSC is simply too common and difficult to keep track of, but this then means it is difficult to establish the true incidence numbers. "So, you know, we talked before about just how frequent skin cancer is. And that's a barrier because of the overwhelming volume of information that you can, you can suck in can make it really hard for a surveillance program to make sense of what you're seeing. So there are a couple of the barriers, I guess." Another difficulty is collecting information about occupation. It is often difficult to link an OD to a specific occupation. "The data sharing is a huge problem. I know that one of the things that we talked about, I think in Ontario, and that, you know, I don't know how far it's gotten, and but it's the idea that if you've got health care system data, if you've got health system data, there's an opportunity to collect information on

occupation. But that's rarely ever done. And I totally get why because I come from a clinical background, but that, you know, being able to make that linkage at that point would be so, it would open up so many doors for, but I think but if in the absence of that data sharing is a huge problem. And so I think that gets in the way." Currently in Canada physicians do not collect occupational information. The WHO has recognized this problem and has recently developed the International Classification of Diseases 11th Revision (ICD-11) system and have included in this new system the possibility for a physician to code whether occupation is a factor in the diagnosis. The ICD-11 system could be very beneficial for ascertaining the incidences of work related disease and the hope is that ICD-11 is integrated internationally by 2022. [130]

6. **Other barriers:** cost of preventive measures, lack of an OEL for solar UVR, NMSC not recognized as OD.

What are the perceived facilitators to developing and implementing an effective occupational surveillance program?

The interviewees identified seven key facilitators that they perceive are necessary (or highly desirable) for the development and implementation of an effective occupational surveillance program. They include: communication/collaboration, outreach/education, simple reporting process, committed/long term funding, strong team/leadership, physician related factors (education/info collection), legislation/regulatory body. Other facilitators identified were in regards to strong scientific evidence, incentives, and a clear goal for the system.

- 1. **Communication/collaboration:** Fourteen participants (64%) mentioned that it is important to have good communication/collaboration amongst stakeholders when developing and implementing an occupational surveillance program. "So I think very coordinated efforts across a number of different teams. I think you need people to work together to build the data collection mechanisms, the analytic plans, even how the data is going to be visualized. And that has to be in connection with the people who will be using the information in practice." It is critical to have all stakeholders at the table from the start as this facilitates buy in to the program. This will allow for better understanding of what is going to happen and why information is being collected. "And so I think the other piece at the get go is this stakeholder involvement that is a bit of a softer thing. But you know, it's a bit, you know, if you think of, you know, nothing about us, without us, you know, if you're going to surveil workers for exposure or disease, it, I think it is also critical to have them at the table. Because if they don't understand why this is happening, there is going to be misunderstandings, but they're also less likely to participate, if they don't understand why you're asking them for information or for you know, biological samples, or whatever it is that you're asking. They need to really be active participants in setting it up and be happy and supportive of what the goals are. And also be clear that, you know, this doesn't mean that all of your claims are going to be accepted, or you're not going to have to jump through some of the hoops to get compensation, you know. It helps those types of things, but it also may not depending on how it's set up." Strong communication/collaboration is a key step in the development and implementation of a surveillance program.
- 2. Outreach/education: Nine participants (41%) mentioned that outreach/education is a key component in a successful occupational surveillance program. "I would say over the last five years since we've been outreaching through the industry associations and through our officers. There's definitely more awareness around the work sites and use of protection." Having direct contact with employers and workers is deemed as very positive. "Well, the first thing is, yeah, education, and having conversations and having conversations, like one on one, I think is it goes a long ways

towards this. I mean, it's not the most effective thing. But I, I think I find that when I have individual conversations with individual workers and employers, that's often much more meaningful than some big, you know, promotional thing. I think they support each other. But I do think those face to face conversations are really crucial. Because it's a two way conversation. You're not just blasting information at people." Relationship building is also an important element when implementing a surveillance program. "So I think one of the ways to kind of overcome that are just to try to do, we really focused big on relationship building. And so some of that was doing, for me who was going to be their worksite contact, I had a couple times to meet with them, or do a presentation or do a lunch and learn with the employees themselves. And then was building capacity with them about why this is important. So it wasn't like I was just showing up and asking them to do this. But there was a bigger knowledge of why we were doing this. And so I think that is one way to help overcome that barrier."

- 3. **Simple reporting process:** Five participants (23%) identified that having a simple reporting process would be helpful in developing and implementing a surveillance program. This would apply only if there is some type of reporting mechanism included in the surveillance system. "And particularly, one day if we could ever have electronic reporting, that would be the cat's meow." Physicians, for example, do not want to be burdened with extra work, so simplifying the reporting process is very important and would likely allow for more buy in. "And we are looking at how we could make it even, because that's part of the problem, how we could make it easier for the doctors just to click from their patient journals, you know, the electronic patient records and we get it into the registry. So we are moving toward that and we are trying to digitalize the entire process." Simplifying the process may make physicians more interested in participating and help combat the underreporting that mar many surveillance programs.
- 4. **Funding:** Five individuals (23%) mentioned that having guaranteed long term funding is an important step in the implementation process. "And there's really no point trying to design something that's super-duper, if the resourcing just isn't there so. Locking in resourcing, and locking in for surveillance programs my own belief is that you need fairly a long term commitment for these things. They can't be set up as a year by year proposition because you just you really just can't deliver a surveillance program. By definition, it requires length of time and doable follow up." The available funding determines how robust the surveillance system can be and longer term funding equals a more successful and impactful program. "I think funding. It's, it's tough to kind of do a little, little splash and you can show impact. But if you don't have like a sustainability partner or an ongoing source, then it's tough. I think that's just the nature of, of our department and a lot of government programs. It's tough to get your foot in the door and kind of get those long, year, yearlong, 5-10 year commitments to say, here's what the impact you could do in 10 years, rather than these one or two year, not necessarily one offs, we were able to put it in about seven or eight years of solid work. But then again, we want to keep scaling and spreading that. More impact and generate. Because our funders also want to see growth, but at the same time, they have to choose between this work and then another piece of work. So it's tough some times."
- 5. Strong leadership: Four interviewees (18%) felt that they need strong leadership in place to develop an effective occupational surveillance program. "And so I think having a very strong, you know, leadership team who really values the surveillance program and the idea around data driven strategies for evidence informed decision-making is really, really important. And when those agendas are set, really setting the teams up for success and saying, you know, an example would be like being a facilitator for those relationships and saying that doesn't necessarily move forward until this happens. These teams have to come together." A strong team will help to create and maintain

a manageable and successful surveillance program. "I mean getting honestly just like a practical recommendation is to get a really strong team of people who are capable of doing the work and the analyses that needs to be done like who are properly trained and who are/who have the skills for data linkages, for programming, statistical modeling, epidemiology and study design. You know, people who really have the right skill set for doing this kind of work and getting those people in place right from the beginning. So that you don't have to go back in and fix things later. I think is a good sort of/is a very practical but like really key and important lesson that, you know might help people, other people."

- 6. Physician related factors/education: Four of the participants (18%) mentioned how improved physician education could help link more diseases to occupation. "Um, so I think one thing would be getting medical practitioners in clinical settings more actively involved in occupational disease surveillance in terms of improving their recognition of occupational disease, of skin tumors, of identifying them, recognizing them and being interested or able to report them somehow to some kind of coordinating center or body. And that is something that can be done through a more clinic, clinically focused surveillance program or workplace focused surveillance program with like health and safety representatives and a union or something like that. But it also has benefits for surveillance using administrative data. Because, you know, there are a lot of diseases that we want to look at that we can't because the physician didn't code the disease properly in their diagnostic field in the data. So we actually don't have as many silicosis cases as we think we should, because physicians were coding it under a general, you know, pulmonary fibrosis code that wasn't specific to silica exposure." Physicians need to understand why surveillance is important and how it can be beneficial to workers in the long run. "I think we just don't/we haven't developed methods and tools to, to make the doctors who are reporting these to the surveillance systems more aware of these things that how surveillance systems can help, not just their patient but beyond the patient." Currently physicians do not collect occupational information from their patients and it has been suggested that this process change. If occupational information were included in patient files it could be of great benefit to surveillance programs. "Yeah, well, there's no sort of field that is used to describe the occupation of a patient in any administrative data in Ontario. And I don't know if the doctors think it might be work related, but are just thinking, "oh, well, what does that matter for how I bill it". So they just bill it under pulmonary fibrosis, or they just don't recognize that it might be work related at all."
- 7. Legislation: Four interviewees (18%) felt that having some kind of legislation in place would help to develop an effective surveillance program. "Obviously having a federal mandate, someone saying this needs to be done helps." This may compel employers or workers to participate and could help minimize underreporting or under-participation. "I think legislation is a good thing to have that it's, I don't know, if voluntary surveillance programs would work. So it's good to have legislation."
- 8. Other facilitators: The interviewees also alluded to other factors that would facilitate the development of an effective occupational surveillance system including the notification of occupational NMSC, a specific goal for the system, strong scientific evidence, as well as incentives for doctors to participate. "We can clearly say, if doctors wouldn't have notified the cases of occupational cancer without expecting that the cases would be recognized, it would never have happened. That's due to the fact that the number of notifications was rising. And then obviously, also the scientific knowledge was increasing and piling up, and that at any one stage they couldn't refuse anymore. Then finally the Ministry of Labor said okay, we're going to accept that. The same thing is now happening with basal cell carcinoma. I'm sure that it won't last long and we will also have basal cell carcinoma under certain conditions as an occupational skin cancer. And we have

done a case/control study, which you probably know. I can send it again to you. Which clearly shows actually there's a dose of UV exposure, in which actually the risk doubles for getting basal cell carcinoma. And this was only found in outdoor workers. Not in those who were privately exposed."

What are the key considerations to developing and implementing an effective occupational surveillance program?

During the telephone interviews the participants were asked some specific questions regarding their involvement in the design and implementation of an occupational surveillance program.

What were the motivations behind developing the surveillance program?

Most of the interviewees recognized that there is a specific motivation/goal in place for their respective surveillance programs. Depending on the surveillance program these motivations are determined via a specific mandate/legislation; are for prevention purposes; are to ensure the health, safety and wellness of workers; are to try and detect disease early so that there can be an intervention and something can be done about it; are to better protect and educate workers; are to collect information on exposure to try to determine whether there are sources of exposure that haven't been well recognized; are to give a signal telling us that something more is happening with more workers. It is not possible to design or implement a program without some sort of motivating factor or goal.

Who was involved in the development of the surveillance program?

The majority of interviewees mentioned that multiple groups or stakeholders were involved in the design and implementation process of the occupational surveillance programs. There is typically stakeholder involvement from government (federal, provincial/state), government agencies, researchers, unions, employers, employees, physicians (occupational physicians, specialists, GPs), municipalities, organizations for industry sectors, workers compensation, and regulators. Multi-sectoral involvement is crucial to success. "But ideally, you'd have a working-group of people with multiple skill sets represented. So ideally, I would recommend an occupational physician, you know, someone with a background in health care for work sites. You would want, I would think an epidemiologist, someone who can help design appropriate data gathering techniques and technologies and has an aptitude for handling large datasets. So, also, I think you'd want someone represented from the workplace just so that you can identify any potential barriers to gathering data, you know, and overcoming, you know, just negativity in the workplace, I guess about an intrusive surveillance program. So you definitely want workplace representation. So that would be the three main people you'd want at the sort of at the high level, I guess for the design phase and then you definitely need some means or mechanism of ensuring that data are collected of high quality. You know, there's no point having a surveillance program if the data are not high quality data; consistent, and reproducible and clean and verifiable. So you need some sort of data management person in there as well who will care about that and ensure that it's high quality. And then at the end of the day, you'll need an analyst of some skill set; statistician or data analyst to actually crunch the numbers, ideally under the oversight of the epidemiologist or the occupational health physician, but obviously the epidemiologist to, you know, to make sure that the comparisons are valid and that the right questions are being answered."

What exposures/outcomes are included in the surveillance program?

There were numerous exposures/outcomes included in the various occupational surveillance systems. There was no particular pattern here other than there was some type of exposure or outcome that was

focused upon. It is important to define the type of exposure or disease/diseases included in the surveillance program from the start.

Is there policy developed that supports or requires the surveillance program?

In many cases there was some type of policy in place that supported the surveillance program and it was recognized that it is helpful if the program is mandated/legislated.

What were the steps taken to develop and implement the program?

Some suggestions were made on steps to follow in the development and implementation of an occupational surveillance program. One interviewee summed up what steps should be taken as follows: "And so in terms of the steps that were taken, that I'm aware of, it was really developing a, like concept for what is actually needed. Really figuring out who the key players and partners are going to be. And then really starting to develop kind of a scientific protocol around what are the/what is the science behind the surveillance that's going to be implemented. So what are the key indicators? How will they be defined? How will we from an analytic standpoint, you know, be analyzing this data so that it's analyzed in a very, you know, robust way so that what we're reporting is accurate. Also, you know, how/what data sources do we actually need and where are there data gaps. And so, part of our work is really focused on working to create innovations around data collection, and then the other part is focused on how we actually present that information". Another participant suggested the following: "Yeah, I guess the first thing I guess you need to do is identify who are the stakeholders in this. You know, just work out exactly who needs to sit around the table. And then I guess you really need to define carefully what is the question you're trying to answer/what is the problem you're trying to solve or the problem you're trying to measure. And be really clear about that so that people, everyone agrees that that's the priority. I think an early step is to work out what resources you have available, because you can have a Rolls Royce model or you can have a, you know, a Fiat 500 model, but it depends on what resources are available. And there's really no point trying to design something that's super-duper, if the resourcing just isn't there so. Locking in resourcing, and locking in for surveillance programs my own belief is that you need fairly a long term commitment for these things. They can't be set up as a year by year proposition because you just you really just can't deliver a surveillance program. By definition, it requires length of time and doable follow up. So I think that's important as well. So they are the sort of big picture steps. Once there's agreement on what the scope and scale and duration is, then the next step is to actually have a design phase of preparing what the actual data capture looks like and how data will be recorded. And I think you need to build in a pilot phase for that as well to make sure that you can road test everything. See how the systems work, identify any flaws, or bugs or anything like that, and then, and then you can roll it out more generally. And then, you know, at a period of time, maybe 18 months/two years in, then you need to do a sort of midterm evaluation and just make sure that it's all working, that the processes are working properly, that it's fit the purpose, the quality of the data are high. And then you can have the sort of three to five year goal of then actually reviewing the data and looking at trends in the data and working out where you are. So it's a fairly long term proposition and there are defined steps along the way." The steps need to be clearly defined so that everyone knows where the program is at and where it is heading.

Is sun exposure/NMSC included?

Sun exposure or NMSC was not included in the majority of the surveillance programs discussed, but a number of the interviewees felt that NMSC should be included in surveillance. "So I can imagine that for outdoor workers there, it would be a high priority. You know, I really would think it would be in most parts of the world, it would be something that would be important because it's definitely a preventable

and known cause of cancer. It's something we can do something about and it's worth preventing. Skin cancer is not a fun thing to have."

What data sources were used?

There were various data sources used depending on the program. Some of these included health administrative data (this can include physician billing data, discharge abstract data, national ambulatory care reporting system), a cancer registry, population based surveys, workers compensation claims/data, registered persons data. It was noted that it has been a challenge linking this type of data to occupation. "But I think, I actually think that the advent of data linkage and the advent of, you know, sort of new technologies that we're getting: smartphone apps and other things can lessen the barriers and facilitate this kind of surveillance work."

What tools are used to evaluate effectiveness?

Some of the interviewees do evaluate their surveillance systems but often not in a specific systematic way. Evaluation is an important part of the design and implementation of an occupational surveillance program. One interviewee described how evaluation should be undertaken. "Yeah, look, ideally it should be done ideally independently. So having other people come in and evaluate. And I guess there is probably two main steps in evaluation; one sort of evaluating the processes and, and running checks over the actual mechanics of how the program works. And then I guess the second part is evaluating how it's actually performed in practice in the field at the time. And I guess the process evaluation can happen earlier in the scheme of things. You can do that, you know, after 12-18 months to make sure that you know, the systems are working appropriately. That the, you know, the sort of key performance indicators (KPIs) are being met that you know, the whatever it is that you're trying to measure the number, you know, the number of events you're trying to capture or the number of work sites in which the program is situated or whether it's a state based or province, province based thing. So, you know, just going through and having an independent evaluator come through and assess just how well it's meeting its process commitments. And then the sort of performance evaluation would come later on. And I guess that's more of an analytical and I guess, scientific approach. And that probably doesn't have to be done by independent people. That can be done by the committee itself or by the by the oversight people. But I guess then you just trying to really work out; what are these data telling us. Is it different from what we expected? If it is different is it different because we made mistakes. Or is it different because the data are right. And we know that whatever differences we're seeing from expectation are due to factors we hadn't foreseen. So that's when it becomes informative at that point."

How are results disseminated?

Most of the participants mentioned that their programs have engaged in formal result dissemination. This is often in the form of newsletters, quarterly reports, annual reports, peer reviewed literature, fact sheets, on websites, abstracts, or presentations to stakeholders. The dissemination piece is a crucial component of a surveillance program. "I think, I think the dissemination part is really critical. I think it's where we often fall down is at the end. We are just so exhausted. We forget to tell people what we found and I think that that sort of, is a really important thing to do. So I think, I think at the end of the day, regardless of what you find good or bad or indifferent make the most of those findings and get them out there because that perpetuates the need for more of this kind of activity and it helps other people who are trying to avoid the same pitfalls that we sometimes make."

Section 8 References

- 1. Modenese A, Korpinen L, Gobba F. Solar radiation exposure and outdoor work: an underestimated occupational risk. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(10):2063. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15102063</u>].
- Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2015 Special topic: Predictions of the future burden of cancer in Canada. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2015. [Available from: <u>http://www.cancer.ca/~/media/cancer.ca/CW/cancer%20information/cancer%20101/Canadian</u> %20cancer%20statistics/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2015-EN.pdf?la=en].
- 3. Krueger H, Williams D, Chomiak M, Trenaman L. The economic burden of skin cancer in Canada: Current and projected Canadian Partnership Against Cancer; 2010. [Available from: <u>http://krueger.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/skincancer.pdf</u>].
- 4. Glanz K, Buller DB, Saraiya M. Reducing ultraviolet radiation exposure among outdoor workers: state of the evidence and recommendations. Environ Health. 2007;6:22. [Available from: https://ehjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1476-069X-6-22].
- 5. Peters CE, Nicol AM, Demers PA. Prevalence of exposure to solar ultraviolet radiation (UVR) on the job in Canada. Can J Public Health. 2012;103(3):223-6. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007%2FBF03403817].
- Mofidi A, Tompa E, Spencer J, Kalcevich C, Peters CE, Kim J, et al. The economic burden of occupational non-melanoma skin cancer due to solar radiation. J Occup Environ Hyg. 2018;15(6):481-91. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15459624.2018.1447118</u>].
- Chen J, Ruczinski I, Jorgensen TJ, Yenokyan G, Yao Y, Alani R, et al. Nonmelanoma skin cancer and risk for subsequent malignancy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008;100(17):1215-22. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djn260].
- 8. de Gruijl FR. Health effects from solar UV radiation. Radiation Protection Dosimetry. 1997;72(3-4):177-96. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.rpd.a032090</u>].
- 9. Teutsch SM. A framework for assessing the effectiveness of disease and injury prevention. MMWR Recomm Rep. 1992;41(Rr-3):1-12. [Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/00016403.htm]
- 10. Barnett RL, Brickman DB. Safety hierarchy. J Safety Res. 1986;17(2):49-55. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4375(86)90093-9].
- 11. Gallagher RP, Lee TK, Bajdik CD, Borugian M. Ultraviolet radiation. Chronic Dis Can. 2010;29 Suppl 1:51-68. [Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/reports-publications/health-promotion-chronic-disease-prevention-canada-research-policy-practice/vol-29-no-1-2008/supplement/ultraviolet-radiation.html]</u>
- 12. Alberta Health Services—Cancer Prevention Program: Environment Unit. Snapshot of Skin Cancer Prevention Facts and Figures: A Resource to Guide Skin Cancer Prevention in Alberta. Calgary: Alberta Health Services; 2009. [Available from: https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/poph/hi-poph-surv-phids-snapshot-skin-cancer.pdf].
- 13. Milon A, Sottas PE, Bulliard JL, Vernez D. Effective exposure to solar UV in building workers: influence of local and individual factors. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol. 2007;17:58-68. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jes.7500521</u>].
- 14. de Vries E, Coebergh JW. Cutaneous malignant melanoma in Europe. Eur J Cancer. 2004;40(16):2355-66. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2004.06.003</u>].
- 15. Kramer DM, Tenkate T, Strahlendorf P, Kushner R, Gardner A, Holness DL. Sun Safety at Work Canada: a multiple case-study protocol to develop sun safety and heat protection programs and

policies for outdoor workers. Implement Sci. 2015;10:97. [Available from: https://implementationscience.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13012-015-0277-2].

- 16. Kornek T, Augustin M. Skin cancer prevention. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. 2013;11(4):283-98. [Available from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ddg.12066</u>].
- 17. National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine. A smarter national surveillance system for occupational safety and health in the 21st century. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press (US); 2018. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/24835</u>].
- Arrandale VH, Bornstein S, King A, Takaro TK, Demers PA. Designing exposure registries for improved tracking of occupational exposure and disease. Can J Public Health. 2016;107(1):e119-25. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.17269/cjph.107.5039</u>].
- 19. Bornstein S, Demers PA, Arrandale VH. Tracking occupational exposure and disease: an analysis of approaches for the Canadian context. Worksafe BC; 2014. [Available from: https://www.worksafebc.com/en/resources/about-us/research/tracking-occupational-diseases-an-analysis-of-approaches-for-the-canadian-context?lang=en].
- Carder M, Hussey L, Money A, Gittins M, McNamee R, Stocks SJ, et al. The Health and Occupation Research Network: an evolving surveillance system. Saf Health Work. 2017;8(3):231-6. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shaw.2016.12.003</u>].
- 21. Cheung SS, Lee JK, Oksa J. Thermal stress, human performance, and physical employment standards. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2016;41(6 Suppl 2):S148-64. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0518</u>].
- Centers for Disease Control (CDC). Recommendations for Protecting Outdoor Workers from West Nile Virus Exposure. Cincinatti, Ohio: Department of Health and Human Services; 2005. [Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2005-155/pdfs/2005-155.pdf?id=10.26616/NIOSHPUB2005155</u>].
- Centers for Disease Control (CDC). NIOSH Fast Facts: Protecting yourself from ticks and mosquitoes. Department of Health and Human Services; 2010. [Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2010-119/pdfs/2010-</u> 119.pdf?id=10.26616/NIOSHPUB2010119].
- 24. Carles C, Bouvier G, Lebailly P, Baldi I. Use of job-exposure matrices to estimate occupational exposure to pesticides: a review. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol. 2017;27(2):125-40. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2016.25</u>].
- 25. Moustafa GA, Xanthopoulou E, Riza E, Linos A. Skin disease after occupational dermal exposure to coal tar: a review of the scientific literature. Int J Dermatol. 2015;54(8):868-79. [Available from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ijd.12903</u>].
- van der Molen HF, Lehtola MM, Lappalainen J, Hoonakker PL, Hsiao H, Haslam R, et al. Interventions to prevent injuries in construction workers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;12:Cd006251. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006251.pub3</u>].
- Bolund AC, Miller MR, Sigsgaard T, Schlunssen V. The effect of organic dust exposure on long-term change in lung function: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Occup Environ Med. 2017;74(7):531-42. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2016-103963</u>].
- 28. McLean D, Glass B, 't Mannetje A, Douwes J. Exposure to respirable crystalline silica in the construction industry-do we have a problem? N Z Med J. 2017;130(1466):78-82. [Available from: https://www.nzma.org.nz/journal-articles/exposure-to-respirable-crystalline-silica-in-the-construction-industry-do-we-have-a-problem]
- 29. Connellan SJ. Lung diseases associated with hydrocarbon exposure. Respir Med. 2017;126:46-51. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2017.03.021</u>].
- 30. Environment Canada. *Weather Information*. 2020 [Accessed 2020 March 9]; Available from: <u>https://weather.gc.ca/</u>.

- 31. Allen M, McKenzie R. Enhanced UV exposure on a ski-field compared with exposures at sea level. Photochem Photobiol Sci. 2005;4(5):429-37. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1039/b418942f].
- Grandahl K, Eriksen P, Ibler KS, Bonde JP, Mortensen OS. Measurements of solar ultraviolet radiation exposure at work and at leisure in Danish workers. Photochem Photobiol. 2018;94(4):807-14. [Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/php.12920].
- Seckmeyer G, Klingebiel M, Riechelmann S, Lohse I, McKenzie RL, Ben Liley J, et al. A critical assessment of two types of personal UV dosimeters. Photochem Photobiol. 2012;88(1):215-22. [Available from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1751-1097.2011.01018.x</u>].
- 34. McKinlay AF, Diffey BL. A reference action spectrum for ultraviolet induced erythema in human skin. In: Passchier WF, Bosnjakovich BFM, editors. Human Exposure to Ultraviolet Radiation: Risks and Regulations. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier Science Publishers; 1987. p. 83-7.
- 35. Environment Canada. *The Canadian Ozone and Ultraviolet Measurement Program*. 2020 [Accessed 2020 March 9]; Available from: <u>https://exp-</u>

studies.tor.ec.gc.ca/e/ozone/ozonecanada.htm.

- Peters CE, Demers PA, Kalia S, Nicol AM, Koehoorn MW. Levels of occupational exposure to solar ultraviolet radiation in Vancouver, Canada. Ann Occup Hyg. 2016;60(7):825-35. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/annhyg/mew037</u>].
- Fitzpatrick TB. The validity and practicality of sun-reactive skin types I through VI. Arch Dermatol. 1988;124(6):869-71. [Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamadermatology/article-abstract/549509].
- International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation P. Guidelines on limits of exposure to ultraviolet radiation of wavelengths between 180 nm and 400 nm (incoherent optical radiation). Health Phys. 2004;87(2):171-86. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004032-200408000-00006</u>].
- Moldovan HR, Wittlich M, John SM, Brans R, Tiplica GS, Salavastru C, et al. Exposure to solar UV radiation in outdoor construction workers using personal dosimetry. Environ Res. 2020;181:108967-. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.108967</u>].
- 40. Peters CE, Pasko E, Strahlendorf P, Holness DL, Tenkate T. Solar ultraviolet radiation exposure among outdoor workers in three Canadian provinces. Ann Work Expo Health. 2019;63(6):679-88. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/annweh/wxz044</u>].
- Modenese A, Ruggieri FP, Bisegna F, Borra M, Burattini C, Vecchia ED, et al. Occupational exposure to solar UV radiation of a group of fishermen working in the Italian north Adriatic sea. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(16):3001. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16163001].
- 42. Schmalwieser AW, Siani AM. Review on nonoccupational personal solar UV exposure measurements. Photochem Photobiol. 2018;94(5):900-15. [Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/php.12946].
- Holman CDJ, Gibson IM, Stephenson M, Armstrong BK. Ultraviolet irradiation of human body sites in relation to occupation and outdoor activity: field studies using personal UVR dosimeters. Clin Exp Dermatol. 1983;8(3):269-77. [Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-2230.1983.tb01779.x].
- 44. Andersen PA, Buller DB, Walkosz BJ, Scott MD, Maloy JA, Cutter GR, et al. Environmental cues to UV radiation and personal sun protection in outdoor winter recreation. Arch Dermatol. 2010;146(11):1241-7. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/archdermatol.2010.327].

- 45. Challoner VJ, Corless D, Davis A, Deane HW, Diffey BL, Gupta SP, et al. Personnel monitoring of exposure to ultraviolet radiation. Clin Exp Dermatol. 1976;1(2):175-9. [Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-2230.1976.tb01413.x].
- 46. Thacker SB, Qualters JR, Lee LM. Public health surveillance in the United States: evolution and challenges. MMWR Suppl. 2012;61(3):3-9. [Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/su6103a2.htm]
- 47. Lee LM, Thacker SB. Public health surveillance and knowing about health in the context of growing sources of health data. Am J Prev Med. 2011;41(6):636-40. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2011.08.015].
- 48. Cherry N, Beach J, Burstyn I, Fan X, Guo N, Kapur N. Data linkage to estimate the extent and distribution of occupational disease: new onset adult asthma in Alberta, Canada. Am J Ind Med. 2009;52(11):831-40. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.20753].
- MacLeod JS, McLeod CB, Peter A, Logar-Henderson C, Shakik S, Sritharan J, et al. A new approach for detecting work-related disease risks: the Occupational Disease Surveillance System. OOHNA Journal. 2018;37(2):45-51. [Available from: http://ahs.idm.oclc.org/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=132864284&site=ehost-live]
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Solar and ultraviolet radiation Volume 55. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 1992. [Available from: <u>http://publications.iarc.fr/Book-And-Report-Series/Iarc-Monographs-On-The-Identification-Of-Carcinogenic-Hazards-To-Humans/Solar-And-Ultraviolet-Radiation-1992]</u>.
- 51. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). IARC Monographs. Radiation Volume 100 D. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2012. [Available from: <u>https://publications.iarc.fr/Book-And-Report-Series/Iarc-Monographs-On-The-Identification-Of-Carcinogenic-Hazards-To-Humans/Radiation-2012]</u>.
- 52. Greinert R, de Vries E, Erdmann F, Espina C, Auvinen A, Kesminiene A, et al. European Code against Cancer 4th Edition: Ultraviolet radiation and cancer. Cancer Epidemiology. 2015;39(S):S75-S83. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2014.12.014].
- 53. John SM, Garbe K, French LE, Takala J, Cardone A, Gehring R, et al. *White paper: Improved protection of outdoor workers from solar ultraviolet radiation*. 2019 [Accessed 2020 January 15]; Available from: <u>https://eadv.org/cms-admin/showfile/White%20Paper.pdf</u>.
- 54. John SM, Trakatelli M, Gehring R, Finlay K, Fionda C, Wittlich M, et al. Consensus report: recognizing non-melanoma skin cancer, including actinic keratosis, as an occupational disease - a call to action. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2016;30:38-45. [Available from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jdv.13608</u>].
- 55. Alfonso JH, Lovseth EK, Samant Y, Holm JO. Work-related skin diseases in Norway may be underreported: data from 2000 to 2013. Contact Dermatitis. 2015;72(6):409-12. [Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/cod.12355].
- 56. Caroe TK, Ebbehoj NE, Wulf HC, Agner T. Occupational skin cancer may be underreported. Dan Med J. 2013;60(5):A4624. [Available from: <u>https://ugeskriftet.dk/dmj/occupational-skin-cancer-may-be-underreported</u>]
- 57. Gobba F, Modenese A, John SM. Skin cancer in outdoor workers exposed to solar radiation: a largely underreported occupational disease in Italy. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2019;33(11):2068-74. [Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jdv.15768].

- 58. Pal TM, de Wilde NS, van Beurden MM, Coenraads PJ, Bruynzeel DP. Notification of occupational skin diseases by dermatologists in The Netherlands. Occup Med (Lond). 2009;59(1):38-43.
 [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqn149].
- 59. Turner S, Forman SD, McNamee R, Wilkinson SM, Agius R. Investigating work-related neoplasia associated with solar radiation. Occup Med (Lond). 2015;65(1):22-8. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqu156].
- 60. International Labour Organization. *Occupational Disease Surveillance and Reporting Systems*. 2011 [Accessed 2020 April 8]; Available from: <u>https://www.iloencyclopaedia.org/part-iv-66769/record-systems-and-surveillance-2359/item/693-occupational-disease-surveillance-and-reporting-systems</u>.
- 61. Froines JR, Wegman D, Eisen E. Hazard surveillance in occupational disease. Am J Public Health. 1989;79(Suppl):26-31. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.79.Suppl.26</u>].
- 62. Demers PA, DeBono NL, Arrandale VH, Keefe AR. Options for tracking occupational disease and exposure in Ontario. Toronto, Canada: Occupational Cancer Research Centre; 2019. [Available from: <u>http://www.odsp-ocrc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Options-Tracking-2019.pdf</u>].
- 63. Rothfels P. Workers can register their workplace exposures online. BCMJ. 2013;55(2). [Available from: <u>https://www.bcmj.org/worksafebc/workers-can-register-their-workplace-exposures-online]</u>
- Carder M, Bensefa-Colas L, Mattioli S, Noone P, Stikova E, Valenty M, et al. A review of occupational disease surveillance systems in Modernet countries. Occup Med (Lond). 2015;65(8):615-25. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqv081</u>].
- 65. Centre for Occupational and Environmental Health. Occupational skin surveillance (EPIDERM).
 2019 [Accessed 2020 January 8]; Available from: http://research.bmh.manchester.ac.uk/epidemiology/COEH/research/thor/schemes/epiderm.
- 66. Davoodi S, Haghighi KS, Kalhori SRN, Hosseini NS, Mohammadzadeh Z, Safdari R. Occupational Disease Registries-Characteristics and Experiences. Acta Inform Med. 2017;25(2):136-40.
 [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.5455/aim.2017.25.136-140</u>].
- Kieffer C, EUROGIP. Reporting of occupational diseases: Issues and good practices in five European countries. Paris, France: EUROGIP; 2015. [Available from: http://www.eurogip.fr/images/documents/3933/Report_DeclarationMP_EUROGIP_102EN.pdf].
- 68. Baker EL, Honchar PA, Fine LJ. Surveillance in occupational illness and injury: concepts and content. Am J Public Health. 1989;79 Suppl:9-11. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.79.Suppl-9].
- 69. Koh D, Aw TC. Surveillance in occupational health. Occup Environ Med. 2003;60(9):705-10. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.60.9.705</u>].
- 70. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH). *Coal Workers' Health Surveillance Program*. 2020 [Accessed 2020 January 15]; Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/cwhsp/default.html</u>.
- 71. Trout DB. General principles of medical surveillance: implications for workers potentially exposed to nanomaterials. J Occup Environ Med. 2011;53(6 Suppl):S22-4. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0b013e31821b1e45].
- 72. Rutstein DD, Mullan RJ, Frazier TM, Halperin WE, Melius JM, Sestito JP. Sentinel Health Events (occupational): a basis for physician recognition and public health surveillance. Am J Public Health. 1983;73(9):1054-62. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.73.9.1054</u>].
- 73. Samant Y, Parker D, Wergeland E, Wannag A. The Norwegian Labour Inspectorate's registry for work-related diseases: data from 2006. Int J Occup Environ Health. 2008;14(4):272-9. [Available from: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1179/oeh.2008.14.4.272</u>].

- 74. Occupational Cancer Research Centre. *Overview of the Occupational Disease Surveillance System* (*ODSS*). 2019 [Accessed 2020 January 8]; Available from: <u>https://www.odsp-ocrc.ca/odss-data/</u>.
- 75. Occupational Cancer Research Centre. *The Occupational Disease Surveillance System*. 2019 [Accessed 2020 January 15]; Available from: <u>https://www.odsp-ocrc.ca/projects/odss/</u>.
- 76. Diepgen TL, Drexler H, Elsner P, Schmitt J. [UV-irradiation-induced skin cancer as a new occupational disease]. Hautarzt. 2015;66(3):154-9. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00105-015-3587-z].
- 77. Bundesanstalt fur Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin. *Wissenschaftliche Begründung für die Berufskrankheit Nr. 5103 "Plattenepithelkarzinome oder multiple aktinische Keratosen der Haut durch natürliche UV-Strahlung"*. 2013 [Accessed 2020 April 15]; Available from: <u>https://www.baua.de/DE/Angebote/Rechtstexte-und-Technische-</u> <u>Regeln/Berufskrankheiten/pdf/Begruendung-5103.html</u>.
- 78. Schmitt J, Haufe E, Trautmann F, Schulze HJ, Elsner P, Drexler H, et al. Occupational UV-exposure is a major risk factor for basal cell carcinoma: results of the Population-Based Case-Control Study FB-181. J Occup Environ Med. 2018;60(1):36-43. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/jom.000000000001217</u>].
- 79. Alho J, Kauppinen T, Sundquist E. Use of exposure registration in the prevention of occupational cancer in Finland. Am J Ind Med. 1988;13(5):581-92. [Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ajim.4700130506].
- 80. Boutou-Kempf O, Marchand JL, Radauceanu A, Witschger O, Imbernon E. Development of a French epidemiological surveillance system of workers producing or handling engineered nanomaterials in the workplace. J Occup Environ Med. 2011;53(6 Suppl):S103-7. [Available from: https://insights.ovid.com/article/00043764-201106001-00023].
- 81. Burg JAR. Policies and procedures for establishing the National Exposure Registry. J Am Coll Toxicol. 1989;8(5):949-54. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10915818909018055</u>].
- Burg JR, Gist GL. The National Exposure Registry: procedures for establishing a registry of persons environmentally exposed to hazardous substances. Toxicol Ind Health. 1995;11(2):231-48. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/074823379501100209</u>].
- Chen J, Moir D, Cornett J. Considerations and preliminary design of patient exposure registry. Radiat Prot Dosimetry. 2010;142(2-4):255-64. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/rpd/ncq280</u>].
- 84. Cone JE, Farfel M. World Trade Center Health Registry--a model for a nanomaterials exposure registry. J Occup Environ Med. 2011;53(6 Suppl):S48-51. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0b013e31821b177a</u>].
- Kauppinen T. Finnish occupational exposure databases. Appl Occup Environ Hyg. 2001;16(2):154-8. [Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/104732201460253].
- 86. Kauppinen T, Saalo A, Pukkala E, Virtanen S, Karjalainen A, Vuorela R. Evaluation of a national register on occupational exposure to carcinogens: effectiveness in the prevention of occupational cancer, and cancer risks among the exposed workers. Ann Occup Hyg. 2007;51(5):463-70. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/annhyg/mem030</u>].
- 87. Kone Pefoyo AJ, Genesove L, Moore K, Del Bianco A, Kramer D. Exploring the usefulness of occupational exposure registries for surveillance: the case of the Ontario Asbestos Workers Registry (1986-2012). J Occup Environ Med. 2014;56(10):1100-10. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1097/jom.0000000000235].
- Moens G, Mylle G, Johannik K, De Raeve H, Lahaye D, Jacques P, et al. Proposal on guidelines for the collection and analysis of routine occupational health data. Arch Public Health. 2006;64:27-48.

- Scarselli A, Montaruli C, Marinaccio A. The Italian information system on occupational exposure to carcinogens (SIREP): structure, contents and future perspectives. Ann Occup Hyg. 2007;51(5):471-8. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/annhyg/mem022</u>].
- 90. Schulte PA, Kaye WE. Exposure registries. Arch Environ Health. 1988;43(2):155-61. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00039896.1988.9935845</u>].
- 91. Schulte PA, Mundt DJ, Nasterlack M, Mulloy KB, Mundt KA. Exposure registries: overview and utility for nanomaterial workers. J Occup Environ Med. 2011;53(6 Suppl):S42-7. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0b013e31821aebed].
- 92. Schultz MG, Sapp JH, 2nd, Cusack CD, Fink JM. The National Exposure Registry: history and lessons learned. J Environ Health. 2010;72(7):20-5.
- 93. Campo G, Papale A, Baldasseroni A, Di Leone G, Magna B, Martini B, et al. The surveillance of occupational diseases in Italy: the MALPROF system. Occup Med (Lond). 2015;65(8):632-7.
 [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqv167</u>].
- 94. Cherry N, Meyer JD, Adisesh A, Brooke R, Owen-Smith V, Swales C, et al. Surveillance of occupational skin disease: EPIDERM and OPRA. Br J Dermatol. 2000;142(6):1128-34. [Available from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1046/j.1365-2133.2000.03537.x</u>].
- Dickel H, Bruckner T, Bernhard-Klimt C, Koch T, Scheidt R, Diepgen TL. Surveillance scheme for occupational skin disease in the Saarland, FRG First report from BKH-S. Contact Dermatitis. 2002;46(4):197-206. [Available from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1034/j.1600-0536.2002.460403.x</u>].
- 96. Dickel H, Kuss O, Blesius CR, Schmidt A, Diepgen TL. Occupational skin diseases in Northern Bavaria between 1990 and 1999: a population-based study. Br J Dermatol. 2001;145(3):453-62. [Available from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2001.04377.x</u>].
- 97. Drummond A. A review of the occupational diseases reporting system in the Republic of Ireland. Dublin: School of Public Health and Population Science, Centre for Safety and Health at Work, University College Dublin; 2007. [Available from: <u>https://www.hsa.ie/eng/Publications and Forms/Publications/Occupational Health/A Review</u> of the Occupational Diseases Reporting System in the Republic of Ireland.html].
- 98. Elder D, Abramson M, Fish D, Johnson A, McKenzie D, Sim M. Surveillance of Australian workplace Based Respiratory Events (SABRE): notifications for the first 3.5 years and validation of occupational asthma cases. Occup Med (Lond). 2004;54(6):395-9. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqh050</u>].
- 99. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. Alert and sentinel approaches to detect work related disease SUVA: Reporting system of the Swiss National Accident Insurance Fund. Luxembourg: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work; 2018. [Available from: <u>https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/alert-and-sentinel-systems-suva-switzerland/view</u>].
- 100. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. Alert and sentinel approaches to detect work related disease THOR The Health and Occupation Reporting Network, United Kingdom. Luxembourg: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work; 2018. [Available from: https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/alert-and-sentinel-systems-thor-united-kingdom/view].
- Hannaford-Turner K, Elder D, Sim MR, Abramson MJ, Johnson AR, Yates DH. Surveillance of Australian workplace Based Respiratory Events (SABRE) in New South Wales. Occup Med (Lond). 2010;60(5):376-82. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqq011</u>].
- 102. Provencher S, Labreche FP, De Guire L. Physician based surveillance system for occupational respiratory diseases: the experience of PROPULSE, Quebec, Canada. Occup Environ Med. 1997;54(4):272-6. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.54.4.272].

- 103. To T, Tarlo SM, McLimont S, Haines T, Holness DL, Lougheed MD, et al. Feasibility of a provincial voluntary reporting system for work-related asthma in Ontario. Can Respir J. 2011;18(5):275-7. [Available from: https://www.hindawi.com/journals/crj/2011/541680/].
- 104. Valenty M, Homere J, Lemaitre A, Plaine J, Ruhlman M, Cohidon C, et al. Surveillance programme for uncompensated work-related diseases in France. Occup Med (Lond). 2015;65(8):642-50. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqv104</u>].
- 105. International Labour Office. Technical and Ethical Guideline for Workers' Health Surveillance. Geneva: International Labour Office; 1998. Contract No.: 72. [Available from: <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---</u> <u>safework/documents/normativeinstrument/wcms_177384.pdf]</u>.
- 106. Pope M, Magnusson M, LundstrÖM R, Hulshof C, Verbeek J, Bovenzi M. Guidelines for wholebody vibration health surveillance. J Sound Vib. 2002;253(1):131-67. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/jsvi.2001.4253</u>].
- 107. Schulte PA, Trout D, Zumwalde RD, Kuempel E, Geraci CL, Castranova V, et al. Options for occupational health surveillance of workers potentially exposed to engineered nanoparticles: state of the science. J Occup Environ Med. 2008;50(5):517-26. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0b013e31816515f7].
- 108.
 Wesdock JC, Sokas R. Medical surveillance in work-site safety and health programs. Am Fam Physician. 2000;61(9):2785-90. [Available from: https://www.aafp.org/afp/2000/0501/p2785.html#:~":text=Medical%20surveillance%20involves %20a%20careful,information%20on%20groups%20of%20workers.]
- 109. Office of the Federal Register. *Title 42 Part 37—Specifications For Medical Examinations Of Coal Miners*. 2020 [Accessed 2020 January 15]; Available from: https://ecfr.io/Title-42/pt42.1.37.
- 110. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health(NIOSH). National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Enhanced Coal Workers' Health Surveillance Program.
 Publication No 2019-112 2018 [Accessed 2020 January 15]; Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2019-112/default.html.
- 111. Baker EL. Sentinel Event Notification System for Occupational Risks (SENSOR): the concept. Am J Public Health. 1989;79 Suppl:18-20. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.79.Suppl.18</u>].
- Balmes J, Rempel D, Alexander M, Reiter R, Harrison R, Bernard B, et al. Hospital records as a data source for occupational disease surveillance: a feasibility study. Am J Ind Med. 1992;21(3):341-51. [Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ajim.4700210307].
- 113. Bonneterre V, Faisandier L, Bicout D, Bernardet C, Piollat J, Ameille J, et al. Programmed health surveillance and detection of emerging diseases in occupational health: contribution of the French national occupational disease surveillance and prevention network (RNV3P). Occup Environ Med. 2010;67(3):178-86. [Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/oem.2008.044610].
- 114. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. Alert and sentinel approaches to detect work related diseases Signaal, Netherlands/Belgium. Luxembourg: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work; 2018. [Available from: <u>https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/alert-and-sentinel-systems-signaal-netherlandsbelgium/view</u>].
- 115. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. Alert and sentinel approaches to detect work related diseases RNV3P: National Network for Monitoring and Prevention of Occupational Diseases in France (Réseau national de vigilance et de prévention des pathologies professionnelles). Luxembourg: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work; 2018. [Available from: https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/alert-and-sentinel-systems-rnv3p-france/view].

- 116. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. Alert and sentinel approaches to detect work related diseases SENSOR-Pesticides Program, USA. Luxembourg: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work; 2018. [Available from: <u>https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/alert-and-sentinel-systems-sensor-pesticides-program-usa/view</u>].
- 117. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, Bakusic J, Lenderink AF, Lambreghts C, Vandenbroeck S, Verbeek J, et al. Alert and sentinel approaches for the identification of workrelated diseases in the EU. Luxembourg: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work; 2018. [Available from: <u>https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/alert-and-sentinel-approaches-</u> identification-work-related-diseases-eu/view].
- 118. Lenderink AF, Keirsbilck S, van der Molen HF, Godderis L. Online reporting and assessing new occupational health risks in SIGNAAL. Occup Med (Lond). 2015;65(8):638-41. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqv061].
- 119. Maizlish N, Rudolph L, Dervin K, Sankaranarayan M. Surveillance and prevention of work-related carpal tunnel syndrome: an application of the Sentinel Events Notification System for Occupational Risks. Am J Ind Med. 1995;27(5):715-29. [Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ajim.4700270507].
- 120. Samant Y, Wannag A, Urban P, Mattioli S. Sentinel surveillance and occupational disease. Occup Med (Lond). 2015;65(8):611-4. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqv166</u>].
- 121. Dement JM, Pompeii LA, Ostbye T, Epling C, Lipscomb HJ, James T, et al. An integrated comprehensive occupational surveillance system for health care workers. Am J Ind Med. 2004;45(6):528-38. [Available from:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ajim.20017].

- 122. Hansen J, Lassen CF. Occupation and cancer risk by use of Danish registers. Scand J Public Health. 2011;39(7 Suppl):136-40. [Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494811399166</u>].
- 123. Harrison R, Materna B, Reinisch F, Harrington D. Core surveillance model program in California. Richmond, CA: Occupational Health Branch, California Department of Health Services; 2005.
- 124. Koehoorn M, Tamburic L, McLeod CB, Demers PA, Lynd L, Kennedy SM. Population-based surveillance of asthma among workers in British Columbia, Canada. Chronic Dis Inj Can. 2013;33(2):88-94. [Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/reportspublications/health-promotion-chronic-disease-prevention-canada-research-policy-practice/vol-33-no-2-2013/population-based-surveillance-asthma-among-workers-british-columbiacanada.html]</u>
- 125. Melius JM, Sestito JP, Seligman PJ. Occupational disease surveillance with existing data sources. Am J Public Health. 1989;79 Suppl:46-52. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.79.suppl.46].
- 126. Mundt KA. Epidemiological surveillance: a management tool for occupational health. J Ambul Care Manage. 1994;17(2):19-27. [Available from: https://doi.org/10.1097/00004479-199404000-00004].
- 127. Reeb-Whitaker CK, LaSee C. Washington State's occupational respiratory disease surveillance system, 2016 – 2017: surveillance methods and a preliminary evaluation. Washington: Safety & Health Assessment & Research for Prevention (SHARP) Program Washington State Department of Labor & Industries; 2019. [Available from: <u>https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safetyresearch/ongoing-projects/occupational-respiratory-disease#publications</u>].
- 128. Sorock GS, Smith GS, Reeve GR, Dement J, Stout N, Layne L, et al. Three perspectives on workrelated injury surveillance systems. Am J Ind Med. 1997;32(2):116-28. [Available from: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/%28SICI%291097-</u> 0274%28199708%2932%3A2%3C116%3A%3AAID-AJIM3%3E3.0.CO%3B2-X].

- 129. Spiegel J, Yassi A. Occupational disease surveillance in Canada: a framework for considering options and opportunities. Can J Public Health. 1991;82(5):294-9. [Available from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/41990084]
- 130. World Health Organization. *ICD-11 International Classification of Diseases 11th Revision*. 2020 [Accessed 2020 March 15]; Available from: <u>https://icd.who.int/en</u>.